### **DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENT**

In presenting this dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I agree that the Library of the University shall make it available for inspection and circulation in accordance with its regulations governing materials of this type. I agree that permission to copy from, or to publish, this dissertation may be granted by the professor under whose direction it was written, or, in his absence, by the Dean of the Graduate School when such copying or publication is solely for scholarly purposes and does not involve potential financial gain. It is understood that any copying from, or publication of, this dissertation which involves potential financial gain will not be allowed without written permission.

Nelson B Moseley II

Date

# Characterization of Human T Cell Responses to 2010-2011 Influenza Vaccines

By Nelson B. Moseley II Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis

> John D. Altman, Ph.D. Advisor

Samuel H. Speck, Ph.D. Committee Member

David Steinhauer, Ph.D. Committee Member

Joshy Jacob, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the Graduate School

Date

# Characterization of Human T Cell Responses to 2010-2011 Seasonal Influenza Vaccines

By

Nelson B. Moseley II B.S, Auburn University, 1999

Advisor: John D. Altman, Ph.D.

An abstract of a dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Program in Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences.

Date: October 27, 2011

#### ABSTRACT

### Characterization of Human T Cell Responses to 2010-2011 Seasonal Influenza Vaccines

By Nelson B. Moseley II

The ultimate goal of influenza-specific T cell research is to develop effective methodologies for exploiting T cell immunity in influenza vaccination. Theoretically, this may be achieved by boosting CD4 T cell populations that provide help for influenza-specific CD8 T cells and B cells or by directly inducing the expansion of CD8 T cells specific for highly conserved influenza epitopes. Interest in this area has been fueled by numerous studies that demonstrate preexisting T cell immunity against both seasonal and antigenically variant influenza strains in the general population, raising the guestion of whether it is possible to enhance influenza vaccine efficacy by targeting these populations. The suitability of this approach is difficult to assess, because human T cell responses to influenza vaccination are not well understood. To address this issue, we performed an investigation to characterize human T cell responses to 2010-2011 seasonal influenza vaccines. To accomplish our objective, we first developed a recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus (rVSV)-based quantitative T cell assay that was demonstrated to be an effective and practical alternative to conventional T cell assay methodologies, and we optimized this system for use in human influenza-specific T cell studies. Using the rVSV system, we measured vaccineinduced CD4 and CD8 T cell responses in adult donors following the administration of trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine (TIV) or live, attenuated influenza vaccine (LAIV). We investigated responses against various external and internal proteins across multiple influenza A strains. Pre-existing T cell populations specific for external and internal influenza proteins were observed in most donors. Although we noted modest vaccine-associated CD4 T cell responses specific for external proteins in specific donors, trial members as a group did not demonstrate significant boosting of baseline influenza external protein-specific CD4 T cell responses. LAIV was more effective than TIV in generating CD4 T cell responses specific for internal proteins while both vaccines were ineffective in boosting external or internal protein-specific CD8 T cell responses. Overall, we conclude that current seasonal influenza vaccine formulations are poor inducers of T cell responses and propose that new technologies specifically engineered to target T cells will likely be warranted in order to establish effective and long-lived influenza-specific T cell immunity.

## Characterization of Human T Cell Responses to 2010-2011 Seasonal Influenza Vaccines

By

Nelson B. Moseley II B.S, Auburn University, 1999

Advisor: John D. Altman, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Program in Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences.

Date: October 27, 2011

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to first thank my advisor, John Altman, for successfully dealing with the growing pains associated with molding me into a graduate student. The pursuit of an advanced degree is a difficult and transformative process, and John's efforts and guidance have been essential in my success. I am very happy and grateful to be a graduate of the Altman lab.

I would also like to acknowledge my parents, my sister, my brother-in-law, and my wife's parents. In all things, they have provided me with invaluable advice, prudent direction, and unconditional love. They have kindly given me the opportunity to represent them in my career, and I consider this to be the greatest honor of my life.

Finally, I want to express sincerest thanks to my wife, Elena, and my son, Nelson. Elena has been a constant reservoir of undying support during my time at Emory. She is patient, compassionate, and understanding, and I owe her a debt that I can never repay. She is the engine that makes my family go. And little Nelson is the accelerator. For four years, he has destroyed our finances, robbed us of much-needed rest, and wrecked our house, but he is the center of our universe. His smiles, laughter, and boundless enthusiasm have brought immeasurable joy to our lives.

# **Table of Contents**

		Page	
Chapter 1: Introduction			
1.1	Background and classification	1	
1.2	Transmission and pathology of influenza viruses	2	
1.3	Influenza pathogenesis	3	
1.4	Influenza virus morphology and genome structure	4	
1.5	Life cycle of influenza viruses	6	
1.6	Antigenic variation and pandemic influenza	7	
1.7	History of influenza vaccines	10	
1.8	Influenza vaccine composition	11	
1.9	Humoral immunity to influenza	12	
1.10	Murine T cell responses to influenza	14	
1.11	Human T cell responses to influenza	18	

Chapter 2: Use of Replication Restricted Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Vectors for Detection of Antigen-Specific T Cells	24
Abstract	26
Introduction	27
Materials and Methods	31
Results	36
Discussion	44
Figure Legends	48
Figures	51
Chapter 3: Characterization of human T cell responses to 2010-2011 seasonal influenza vaccines	
Abstract	64
Introduction	66
Materials and Methods	
Results	74
Discussion	84
Figure Legends	90
Figures	93
Tables	107
Supplementary Figures	112
Chapter 4: Discussion	
References	123

# **List of Figures**

(listed in order of appearance within each chapter)

# Chapter 2

2.1	VSV is monocyte tropic	51
2.2	Optimization of assay parameters for flow cytometric detection of T cell responses by VSV-ΔG antigen delivery	55
2.3	Effects of carryover antigen	57
2.4	Optimization of MOI	58
2.5	Evaluation of T cell responses to a range of antigens encoded by VSV- $\Delta G$ vectors	60
2.6	VSV-ΔG vectors drive the proliferation of antigen- specific T cells <i>in vitro</i>	61

# Chapter 3

3.1	Visualization of influenza-specific T cells using rVSV vectors	93
3.2	CD4 T cell responses to external influenza proteins	95
3.3	Vaccine-induced CD4 T cell responses specific for external influenza proteins are cross-reactive	98
3.4	Comparison of post-vaccination IgG-secreting ASC levels and CD4 T cell responses to external influenza proteins at day 7	100
3.5	CD4 T cell responses to internal influenza proteins	101
3.6	CD8 T cell responses to internal influenza proteins	104
S3-1	Sequence alignments of M1 from A/PR/08/34, A/AA/06/60, and A/Cal/04/09	112

# List of Tables

(listed in order of appearance within each chapter)

# Chapter 3

Table 1	Demographic information for influenza vaccine trial participants	107
Table 2	Influenza proteins included in the our study of human T cell responses to 2010-2011 seasonal influenza vaccines	108
Table 3	Analysis of human vaccine-associated CD4 T cell responses to external influenza proteins via mixed linear model	109
Table 4	Analysis of human vaccine-associated CD4 T cell responses to internal influenza proteins via mixed linear model	110
Table 5	Analysis of human vaccine-associated CD8 T cell responses to internal influenza proteins via mixed linear model	111

### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### 1.1 Background and classification

Influenza is a virus that causes acute, febrile disease that is annually responsible for approximately 500,000 deaths worldwide (1). Many viral illnesses that are problematic in developing countries, such as measles, dengue, and yellow fever, do not represent major health burdens in the United States. This is not the case with influenza. Pneumonia and other respiratory and circulatory complications associated with seasonal influenza account for nearly 300,000 hospitalizations in the U.S. each year with an estimated annual medical cost in excess of \$10 billion (2). In addition to the challenges involved in controlling seasonal influenza, there remains a constant threat that reassortment events among circulating influenza strains could result in pandemic influenza. This fear was realized as recently as two years ago when the emergence of the 2009 swine-origin H1N1 virus resulted in the World Health Organization (WHO) declaring the first influenza pandemic of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. 2009 H1N1 is estimated to have caused approximately 12,500 deaths in the U.S. alone (3).

Influenza viruses belong to the *Orthomyxoviridae* family, which consists of five genera: Influenza A, B, and C, Isavirus, the causative agent of infectious salmon anemia (4), and Thogotovirus, a tick-borne virus that is known to infect and cause mild disease in humans (5). All Influenza genera are known to infect humans; in fact, for influenza B viruses, humans appear to be the only natural

host (6). Influenza A viruses infect a range of mammals, including humans, dogs, cats, horses, swine, and a variety of avian species, such as ducks, quail, chickens, and turkeys (6-9). It is generally accepted that human influenza viruses are derived from mutated and reassorted variants that originated in avian species, probably water fowl (10,11). Influenza A viruses are further classified into subtypes based on the sequences of hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA) glycoproteins that extend from the surface of the virion. Currently, 16 HA (H1-H16) and 9 NA (N1-N9) molecules have been classified, and although only H1-3 and N1-2 viruses historically cause widespread infection of humans, avian influenza HA subtypes, such as H5, 7, and 9, cause sporadic, yet often severe, human infection (12,13). Influenza C viruses have traditionally been considered human pathogens, but there have been reports of Influenza C isolation from swine (14).

#### 1.2 Transmission and pathology of influenza viruses

It is generally accepted that transmission of influenza occurs primarily through an aerosol route. Infected individuals exhale droplets of virulent respiratory secretions that settle in the airways of the new host and initiate infection. This mode of transmission typically occurs over distances of 1m or less (15,16). Transmission through direct contact is also possible. There have been occasional concerns regarding the ability of influenza to be transmitted over distances greater than 1m via an airborne route, but there has been no conclusive supporting evidence (17). The period of time between exposure to influenza and onset of illness is highly variable, from 1-7 days, and depends on

various factors, such as the age of the host, immune status, infectious dose, etc. (18). A typical influenza infection in an adult will induce a fever between 100-105°F about 24 hrs. following onset. Additional symptoms commonly include a dry, unproductive cough, chills, malaise, sore throat, and headache (19,20). These symptoms usually subside by one week after onset, although general malaise, cough, and weakness may persist for an additional few weeks (21-23). Young children and the elderly experience higher morbidity and mortality than adult populations who have robust, fully developed immune systems. Although the course of disease and clinical manifestations are similar for all groups, susceptible populations often experience more severe symptoms, increased opportunistic infections, and gastrointestinal complications (24-26).

#### 1.3 Influenza Pathogenesis

In humans, the lower airways of the lungs endure most of the pathological changes associated with influenza infection, although the effects of inflammation can be traced throughout the entire respiratory tract. Ciliated columnar epithelial cells are believed to be the major centers of viral replication. Analysis of these populations reveals that they become vacuolated and swollen in the 24 hrs. following infection. Eventually, infected cells lose their cilia, become necrotic, and desquamate (27). Immunopathology, mediated by the infiltration of monocytes and neutrophils into inflamed tissues, has also been shown to occur (28). Regeneration of damaged epithelial layers typically begins 5-7 days after onset, a process often requiring four weeks to complete. However, in cases of severe

infection, the repair process may require more than six weeks to restore normal respiratory function (29,30).

#### 1.4 Influenza virus morphology and genome structure

Influenza viruses typically have a spherical morphology but also commonly exist in a long, filamentous form. The virion is surrounded by a lipid envelope, which is lined by a network of matrix proteins (M1). The M1 scaffolding is essential for viral assembly as well as budding from host membranes (31). M1 interacts with the ribonucleoprotein (RNP) at the core of the viral particle. The RNP is the transcriptional unit of the virus, and is composed of an RNA genome in a complex with four viral proteins, polymerase subunit A (PA), polymerase subunit B1 (PB1), polymerase unit B2 (PB2), and a nucleoprotein (NP). An additional viral protein,  $NS_2$ , is known to associate with the M1 scaffolding, but the biological function of this protein and this interaction has yet to be clearly defined (32,33). Protruding from the viral envelope are two types of external influenza proteins, trimers of hemagglutinin (HA) and tetrameric complexes of neuraminidase (NA; 34) that coat the surface of the virion at an approximate ratio of 5:1. Among influenza viruses, C viruses do not express NA. Influenza C viruses encode only one external protein, HEF. This protein was designated HEF as it is capable of hemagglutination, esterase, and fusion activity (35), essentially making it capable of performing the functions of both HA and NA in influenza A and B viruses. M2 is a transmembrane protein on the surface of the virion that serves as an ion channel for influenza A and C viruses. B viruses differ from A and C viruses in that they express two transmembrane ion channel proteins,

BM2 and NB. Both function in a manner analogous to M1 from influenza A and C viruses, and although it is not yet understood why B viruses express two ion channel proteins, one of the proteins (BM2) seems to be required for viral replication (36-37). The precise role of NB has yet to be determined.

Influenza A and B genomes consist of eight linear, non-segmented RNA gene segments that are listed in order based on descending nucleotide lengths: Segment 1 codes for PB2, 2) PB1, 3) PA, 4) HA, 5) NP, 6) NA (and NB for B viruses), 7)  $M_1/M_2$  (BM2 for B viruses) and 8)  $NS_1/NS_2$ . Influenza C viruses have only seven gene segments, lacking segment 6 (NA). Approximately half of the influenza genome is comprised of the three polymerase genes (PA, PB1, and PB2). Segments 1-6 each code for a single protein in A and C viruses with segment 6 coding for both NA and NB proteins in influenza B viruses. For A and C viruses, segment 7 encodes two proteins, M<sub>1</sub> and M<sub>2</sub>, which are generated as linear and spliced mRNA transcripts, respectively. Segment 7 of B viruses encodes two overlapping ORFs, M<sub>1</sub> and BM2, both of which are produced as linear, unspliced mRNAs. For all influenza genera, segment 8 encodes two proteins,  $NS_1$  and  $NS_2$ .  $NS_1$  is transcribed as a linear mRNA, and  $NS_2$  is spliced. NS<sub>1</sub> is a nonstructural protein that does not appear in the viral particle, but it is readily detected in infected cells and has been demonstrated to perform critical functions in the viral life cycle (38,39).

#### 1.5 Reassortment of influenza viruses

The life cycle of influenza begins with the binding of HA molecules to sialic acid (SA) receptors on the surface of an infectable cell. Numerous cell surface glycoproteins have terminal SA receptors that are joined by glycosidic linkage to galactose (Gal) residues, and the nature of this linkage is used to identify SA receptors. The most common influenza HA receptors are SA $\alpha$ 2,3Gal and SA $\alpha$ 2,6Gal. Avian influenza viruses prefer  $\alpha$ 2,3 linkages. This preference has evolved due to selective pressure, as avian species primarily express  $\alpha$ 2,3 receptors on airway epithelial cells and in the lung (40). In contrast to avian influenza, SA receptor expression in the upper airways of humans is dominated by  $\alpha$ 2,6 linkages, and there is a corresponding preference for  $\alpha$ 2,6 linkages in human influenza viruses.

Avian influenza viruses are introduced into human populations following genetic reassortment between avian and human influenza viruses. It is currently thought that swine serve as intermediate hosts for this reassortment, in large part because swine harbor both avian and human viruses (10,41,42). In support of this, epithelial cells in the swine trachea express an abundance of both  $\alpha$ 2,3 and  $\alpha$ 2,6 linkages (43), and swine are commonly referred to as "mixing vessels" for the generation of humanized viruses from avian influenza. Some avian species, such as quail and chicken have also been shown to express  $\alpha$ 2,3 and  $\alpha$ 2,6 linkages in the trachea (44), and these animals may also serve as reservoirs for influenza virus reassortment.

#### 1.6 Antigenic variation and pandemic influenza

The scientific community has enjoyed successful vaccination campaigns for a number of viral pathogens, such as smallpox, measles, and poliovirus, primarily because these viruses do not routinely experience significant antigenic change. Accordingly, a single vaccination for these viruses will typically yield decades of protection (45). In contrast, influenza viruses undergo constant antigenic variation and effective control requires annual vaccine campaigns aimed at immunizing against circulating seasonal strains. The high level of antigenic variation observed in influenza viruses is driven by two distinct mechanisms, antigenic drift and antigenic shift.

Antigenic drift in influenza is the accumulation of single amino acid substitutions in HA and NA surface glycoproteins. Although all influenza genera are subject to antigenic drift, influenza A viruses have been demonstrated to have the highest mutation rates (46). Over time, error-prone viral RNA polymerases introduce mutations that alter protein structure and render host anti-HA/NA antibodies incapable of neutralizing drifted strains, an obvious problem given that antibodies against these surface glycoproteins are generally considered to be indispensable in achieving protection from influenza infection (47-50). Antigenic drift leads to the emergence of variant influenza strains via positive selection by host antibodies that neutralize non-drifted strains. This process eventually results in the generation of variants that are particularly successful in evading host responses and thus potentially capable of initiating

epidemics (51,52). In addition to the obvious dangers posed by antigenically drifted strains, this phenomenon is capable of adversely affecting annual vaccine campaigns. An example of this occurred during the 2003-04 seasonal influenza campaign. WHO officials recommended A/Panama/2007/99 as the H3N2 component of the seasonal vaccine. Antigenic drift in HA of circulating influenza strains generated an A/Fujian/411/02-like virus that was a poor antigenic match for the A/Panama/2007/99 vaccine strain. As a result, vaccinated individuals elicited H3N2 HA-specific antibody responses that offered only minimal protection upon exposure to A/Fujian-like viruses, which were the dominant H3N2 in circulation that year (53).

Antigenic shift occurs when genomic reassortment events swap entire gene segments between two separate viruses. This manner of antigenic variation introduces new HA and NA subtypes into the human population, and although this variation mechanism is far less frequent than antigenic drift, the consequences of a novel, humanized reassortant strain are potentially devastating. Antigenic shift generates pandemic influenza strains that vary considerably in amino acid sequence compared to previously circulating viruses, substantially increasing the susceptibility of human populations possessing antibodies that are incapable of neutralizing shifted strains.

Four major antigenic shift events occurred in the 20<sup>th</sup> century. The emergence of the 1918 H1N1 Spanish influenza virus (1918 H1N1) marked the

beginning of the most lethal influenza pandemic on record. The exact mortality of 1918 H1N1 is unknown, but has recently been reported to be on the order of 50 million worldwide and up to 1 million in the U.S. alone (54,55). Two additional major antigenic shifts occurred in 1957 (Asian influenza; H2N2) and 1968 (Hong Kong influenza; H3N2) and were followed by global pandemics. These strains were much less virulent than 1918 H1N1 and caused far fewer casualties (approximately 1.5-2.5 million total; 56,57). H1N1 reemerged as the dominant circulating strain in 1977 and caused local epidemics in the Soviet Union (hence the name, "Russian influenza") and China. This pandemic was primarily confined to individuals younger than 20 years old, because older populations exposed to or vaccinated against H1N1 before the appearance of H2N2 in 1957 were protected by pre-existing levels of cross-reactive serum antibodies. As a result, 1977 H1N1 was a relatively mild pandemic (60.61). Multiple sources have suggested that 1977 H1N1 was introduced into the population as the result of a laboratory accident (58,59). The 2009 swine-origin H1N1 pandemic strain (2009 H1N1) was not the product of a antigenic shift to a new subtype, as H1N1 has been a common human subtype for nearly a century, but it was resultant from reassortment events that introduced a strain of novel composition with a highly divergent HA (62).

#### 1.7 History of influenza vaccines

At the time of the 1918 Spanish influenza pandemic, it had not yet been established that a virus was the causative agent of influenza, although there was

speculation by numerous experts that viral infection was the most likely explanation (63-65). The extraordinary severity of the pandemic dramatically hastened influenza research, which led to the eventual isolation of virus from influenza-infected swine and humans in the early 1930s (66). Within a few years, egg-adapted strains were isolated, allowing researchers to easily propagate influenza virus in embryonated chicken eggs, and these strains became the foundation for seasonal influenza vaccines. The first human influenza vaccine trial was conducted in 1937, it was observed that vaccine recipients generated high levels of serum antibodies (67). Large human trials conducted by the military in the 1940s led to FDA approval of the first influenza vaccines. Original vaccine preparations were inactivated by a variety of chemical means, such as formaldehyde and  $\beta$ -propriolactone to render the virus incapable of establishing infection yet antigenically intact (68,69). While these whole-virus preparations were determined to be immunogenic, they led to a high number of adverse reactions, particularly among young children (70). To address this issue, vaccine manufacturers began to treat inactivated vaccines with detergents or solvents, which disrupt viral particles without altering the antigenic properties of the virus. This treatment resulted in what are termed split-virion vaccines, which are enriched for HA and NA proteins (71). For reasons probably related to additional purification steps during manufacturing, split-virion vaccines have been shown to result in fewer adverse reactions than their whole-virus counterparts, and in the U.S., inactivated influenza virus vaccines have been exclusively administered in this form since 2003 (72,73).

Cold-adapted influenza viruses (CAIV) were first characterized in 1967 and gained immediate interest as potential vaccine vectors (74,75). The first CAIV developed was produced via serial passage of A/Ann/Arbor/06/60 (A/AA/06/60; H2N2) in embryonated chicken eggs at progressively lower temperatures. This led to the recovery of viruses that grew well at both 25°C and 33°C. Additional passaging in eggs at 25°C produced A/AA/06/60 strains that grew well at 25°C but poorly at 33°C, resulting in an A/AA/06/60 variant that was both cold-adapted (*ca*) and temperature-sensitive (*ts*; 76,77). Similar techniques were subsequently used to generate a *ca*, *ts* influenza B variant from B/Ann Arbor 01/66 (78,79). These strains were tested for use as human influenza vaccine candidates and were determined to be safe and efficacious (80,81). Both the *ca* and *ts* attenuations are present in FluMist, a live, attenuated influenza vaccine that was approved by the FDA in 2003 (82).

#### 1.8 Influenza vaccine composition

Seasonal influenza vaccination remains the most effective tool to protect the general population from influenza infection. There are currently two seasonal influenza vaccines that are approved for use in the U.S., trivalent inactivated vaccine (TIV) and live attenuated influenza vaccine (LAIV or FluMist; also trivalent). Both of these vaccines express 3 pairs of HA and NA genes: two pairs from influenza A (H1N1 and H3N2 subtypes) and a pair from an influenza B strain. The WHO Global Influenza Surveillance Network annually gathers global influenza sequencing data and performs antigenic analysis to determine the influenza A and B strains that will be represented in seasonal influenza vaccines.

This decision is based on anticipating which A and B strains are expected to circulate during the coming influenza season and choosing appropriately matched strains to blend into vaccines for maximum efficacy. TIV, which is FDA approved for all ages, is produced by recombining predicted seasonal HA and NA genes with internal genes derived from A/PR/08/34. LAIV is an attenuated, cold-adapted, and temperature sensitive live vaccine composed of three 6:2 genetic reassortants containing HA and NA genes of circulating seasonal influenza strains and internal genes from A/AA/06/60 (H2N2) and B/AA/01/66 (83). Like TIV, LAIV is currently produced in embryonated chicken eggs, but since it is a live vector, it is not subjected to inactivation or chemical disruption. LAIV also differs from TIV in that it is administered intranasally and is approved for an age range of 2 to 49.

#### 1.9 Humoral immunity to influenza

Decades of research studying immune responses and protection in human and mouse models has led to the established canon that protection from recurrent influenza infection is mediated primarily by antibodies against HA and to a lesser extent, NA (84,85). The protective capacity of antibodies is easily demonstrated in mice. HA and NA-specific antibodies generated via vaccination provide protection against influenza challenge in the absence of CD4 or CD8 T cells (86,87). Additionally, passive immunization of mice with anti-HA antibodies has been shown to result in sterilizing immunity following influenza challenge, and this effect was also demonstrated in the absence of T cells (88). Direct antibody-mediated protection is quite difficult to confirm in humans, although

there is evidence that transplacentally transferred maternal antibodies may help prevent influenza A infection in infants (89).

In humans, post-vaccination serum levels of HA and NA antibodies correlate strongly with protection, restriction of viral replication upon infection, and amelioration of disease (47-49). These antibodies are primarily produced by immunoglobulin G (IgG) and IgA antibody-secreting plasma cells (ASCs; also called effector B cells) that mature from the stimulation of influenza-specific naïve or memory B cells in the draining lymph node (90,91). Influenza-specific IgG ASC populations in the blood peak approximately 7 days post-vaccination, composing up to 16% of all circulating B cells (92), and expansion is quite transient, often returning to baseline levels 2 to 3 weeks following vaccination (93,94). Vaccineassociated IgG memory B cell responses peak 2 to 6 weeks post vaccination. Peak post-vaccination frequencies of circulating IgG memory B cells is approximately 1% of total B cells, which is considerably lower than those observed for IgG ASCs; however, these responses are long-lived, remaining above baseline for months following vaccination (92).

Recently, a few groups have compared the efficacy of TIV and LAIV in eliciting antibody responses in humans. In one study, IgA ASC responses elicited by TIV or LAIV were similar in adults and children; however, in adults, TIV was a superior inducer of IgG ASCs (95). Memory B cell responses (both IgG and IgA) were found to be more robust in the TIV group for both adults and children. In

additional reports involving the elderly and military recruits, donors immunized with TIV displayed higher serum antibody levels and reported reduced illness compared to LAIV recipients (96-98).

#### 1.10 Murine T cell responses to influenza

When compared to the wealth of data detailing B cell responses to influenza, our knowledge and understanding of human T cell responses to the virus is guite modest. The characterization of human CD4 and CD8 T cell responses to influenza was in its infancy as late as the mid 1980s, by which time influenza-specific B cell responses had been heavily researched for decades (99,100). Most of what is known regarding T cell responses to influenza is the result of relatively recent studies conducted in mice, and the exact role of T cells in influenza infection and vaccination remains difficult to interpret. There are ample murine studies that support a protective role for CD4 and CD8 T cells in influenza infection. In multiple studies, CD8-deficient mice have been shown to clear virus at a decreased rate following infection (101,102). Consistent with this observation are experiments that demonstrate the ability of adoptively-transferred influenza-specific CD8 T cells to ameliorate disease and promote clearance in challenged mice lacking B cells (103,104). Additionally, transfer of CD8 T cells specific for NP into recipient animals prior to viral challenge confers protection by limiting viral replication (105).

T cell responses to influenza in mice have been chiefly characterized by studying responses to HKx31 (H3N2) and A/PR/08/34 (H1N1). HKx31 shares

internal genes with A/PR/08/34, but it expresses distinct external proteins from different subtypes, H3 and N2. Priming mice with one of the viruses elicits neutralizing antibody responses that do not recognize and eliminate the other strain upon secondary challenge, and as a result, heterologous prime/boost regimens employing HKx31 and A/PR/08/34 are useful for investigating secondary influenza-specific T cell responses. CD8 T cell responses specific for HKx31 and A/PR/08/34 are dominated by two conserved antigenic determinants in NP (NP<sub>366-374</sub>) and PA (PA<sub>224-233</sub>; 106). By transferring NP<sub>366-374</sub>- specific CD8 T cells derived from HKx31 infection into naïve recipients, mice are partially protected upon challenge with A/PR/08/34, demonstrating the potential of CTLmediated cross-protection against influenza infection in a heterosubtypic manner (107,108). The role of CD8 T cells in protection against heterosubtypic viruses has been confirmed in various other murine studies. leading to speculation that "universal" influenza vaccines designed to generate cross-reactive CTL responses against a range of subtypes may be candidates worthy of investigation (107,109,110,111).

Despite evidence of CD8 T cell-mediated protection in influenza infection, they do not always appear to be beneficial. For example, naïve mice that were immunized with dendritic cells pulsed with peptides containing NP<sub>366-374</sub> and PA<sub>224-233</sub> generated CD8 T cell responses specific for NP and PA, as expected, yet only NP<sub>366-374</sub> vaccination resulted in accelerated clearance following challenge. In fact, PA<sub>224-233</sub>-vaccinated animals cleared virus more slowly than

uninfected controls (112,113). Similar studies have demonstrated that immunization with PA<sub>224-233</sub> or CD8 epitopes from HA and M1 (HA<sub>332-340</sub>, and M1<sub>128–135</sub>) leads to robust production of influenza-specific CD8 T cells but subsequent delayed viral clearance upon challenge infection (114). The reasons for this seemingly detrimental vaccine outcome are unclear, and there are multiple possibilities. PA<sub>224-233</sub>, HA<sub>332-340</sub>, and M1<sub>128-135</sub> are expressed at a high level on murine dendritic cells, but their presentation on non-dendritic cell populations is considerably lower or absent (112,113,115). If the expression of these peptides is markedly reduced on lung epithelial cells, one may speculate that the observed delay in viral clearance is due in part to the overproduction of CTLs specific for epitopes that are not expressed on infected lung cells. A second possibility for delayed clearance could be attributed to an effect similar to antigenic sin in B cells, whereby populations of non-protective CD8 T cells resulting from primary immunization massively expand during viral challenge and populate the T cell compartment to an extent that the generation of potentially protective CD8 populations is suppressed. In either case, this data suggests that influenza CD8 epitopes differ in their efficacy with regards to controlling infection, and this dynamic warrants consideration when designing CTL-based vaccines (114).

CD4 T cells are traditionally known to assist in the activation of CD8 T cells and provide help in antibody production, and murine studies suggest that they perform these functions following influenza infection (116). Previous studies

have shown that MHC class II<sup>-/-</sup> and CD40-deficient mice are severely impaired in their ability to generate protective antibody responses upon influenza infection compared to control animals (117,118). Additionally, B cell-deficient µMT mice, which generate protective CD8 T cell responses in the presence of CD4 T cells upon A/PR/08/34 infection, fail to control the virus if CD4 T cells are depleted (119-121). The contribution of CD4 T cells in influenza immunity has been further demonstrated in T cell-deficient nude mice. These animals typically succumb to A/PR/08/34 infection, but the adoptive transfer of HA- or NA-specific CD4 T cells on the day following A/PR/08/34 infection leads to robust antibody production and subsequent recovery (88).

Helper-independent roles have also been observed in influenza-specific CD4 T cells. Influenza-primed effector CD4 T cells lysed infected targets in cytotoxicity assays via perforin-mediated cytolysis, and A/PR/08/34 infection of mice with perforin-deficient CD4 T cells resulted in decreased survival (122). Additionally, in antibody-depleted, RAG2<sup>-/-</sup> mice passively immunized with influenza NP-specific CD4 T cells, infection with A/PR/08/34 resulted in reduced viral loads compared to unimmunized animals (123). This result was found to be IFNγ-dependent and probably involved the recruitment and mobilization of innate immune mediators into infected tissues.

Mouse studies suggest that CD4 T cells are not absolutely required to protect against influenza infection. CD4 T cell-depleted mice infected with HKx31

readily clear virus from the lungs and generate only slightly diminished CD8 T cell responses (124). Similar results were reported in MHC class II<sup>-/-</sup> mice, although influenza-specific CD8 T cell responses were delayed early in infection (125). Decreased expression of several inflammatory cytokines, such as IFNγ, IL-2, and IL-10, was observed in MHC class II<sup>-/-</sup> mice, and it has been suggested in these studies that the primary protective function of CD4 T cell help in influenza infection may be the production of necessary immune mediators (126).

#### 1.11 Human T cell responses to influenza.

The obvious limitation of influenza-specific T cell studies performed in mice is that these models may not accurately reflect human T cell responses. First, humans are subjected to a vast array of bacterial and viral infections that generate numerous T cell specificities, and it is difficult to determine any effect that these populations have on influenza-specific T cell responses. Additionally, influenza research is performed in donors that have already established some level of influenza-specific T cell immunity due to previous exposure or vaccination. Finally, influenza research in animals is commonly carried out at artificially high infectious doses and via routes of infection that may yield physiologically inaccurate results.

For obvious reasons, it is impossible to study all of the relevant anatomical compartments when conducting human T cell research. Typically, human T cell investigations are performed with peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC). Influenza-specific T cell populations are maintained at low frequency in PBMC,

making their detection difficult. Very sensitive techniques are required to measure influenza-specific T cell responses in human samples, and the lack of suitable tools to study these responses has been a major hindrance to investigating influenza immunity. During the past decade, however, the continued refinement of MHC tetramer staining technologies, ELIspot, and intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) assays has provided methods for studying T cell responses. MHC tetramers provide rapid, direct ex vivo detection of T cells at the epitope level and are valuable tools for determining physical phenotypes of antigen-specific T cells. ELISpot and ICS assays are commonly used to detect antigen-specific T cell function, most commonly by measuring cytokine production. Common antigens for ELISpot and ICS assays include whole protein, viral lysates, plasmid DNA, recombinant vaccinia, and overlapping peptide pools (127-131). Despite the utility of these antigens, each has one or more significant limitations, which are discussed in Chapter 2. Pools of overlapping peptides representing entire proteins or even small viruses are widely regarded as the "gold standard" antigen for T cell assays (127). The primary limitation of overlapping peptide pools is that the cost of synthesis could potentially make their use economically prohibitive in some studies, such as vaccine trials that commonly generate massive numbers of samples to be processed, mapping immunodominant epitopes in moderately large genomes, or detecting T cell responses to viruses that undergo high levels of antigenic variation, such as influenza. Chapter 2 describes the development of a novel T cell quantitation assay that employs recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus (rVSV) as a source of

antigen. This method has been optimized for use in human subjects and represents a valid approach to measuring influenza-specific T cell responses.

Despite the difficulties associated with human T cell research, our understanding of influenza-specific T cell immunity has advanced considerably in recent years. Numerous reports have shown that humans possess pre-existing levels of influenza-specific CD4 and CD8 T cells gained through infection or seasonal vaccination that have the potential to cross-react with antigenically variant strains, such as 2009 H1N1 and H5N1 avian influenza virus. CD4 T cells in individuals previously uninfected with 2009 H1N1 react with peptides (HA, NA, M1, and NP) derived from 2009 H1N1 in [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine incorporation assays, and CD4 T cells from healthy adult donors produce IFNy when stimulated with autologous antigen-presenting cells (APCs) infected with 2009 H1N1 (132,133). Additionally, CD4 T cells that are cross-reactive with H5 have been described in heathy adults (134,135). There is also an abundance of human data describing the presence CD8 T cells in healthy adults that recognize various internal and external and internal proteins from 2009 H1N1 and H5N1 (136-139). Some degree of pre-existing T cell immunity to novel influenza viruses is expected, as immunotypic sequence analysis of various strains, including 2009 H1N1, has confirmed the invariant nature of several MHC class I and class II epitopes (139,140). The potential contribution of cross-reactive influenza-specific T cell immunity was recently demonstrated. During the 2009 H1N1 pandemic, it was discovered that pre-existing humoral immunity against 2009 H1N1 in the general

adult population was minimal (141); however, the ensuing pandemic was relatively mild, leading to speculation that the severity of the pandemic was diminished by 2009 H1N1 cross-reactive T cells previously generated via natural exposure or seasonal vaccination. Even though it would be challenging, if not impossible, to properly evaluate this possibility in humans, it has created considerable interest in developing influenza vaccines that establish broadly cross-protective T cell immunity.

The capability of conventional seasonal influenza vaccine formulations to induce T cell responses in humans has only been partially explored. Currently, there have been only a few studies of human T cell responses to influenza vaccination and some of these investigations have drawn different conclusions. For example, in a trial of 30 adult donors receiving TIV or LAIV, both vaccines were show to induce robust T cell responses specific for HA from the influenza A strains contained in the vaccines (96, 142); however, in a separate trial, both vaccines failed to generate significant T cell responses in adults (143). This discrepancy is possibly a result of different methods for assaying influenzaspecific T cells, as the first study was conducted following *in vitro* expansion of donor PBMC populations while second involved direct ex vivo analysis of peripheral blood samples. Additionally, since these studies were performed in different years, it is possible that there was variability in the antigenicity of the influenza strains that were blended into seasonal vaccines on those years. In children, both TIV and LAIV appear to be effective in inducing influenza-specific

T cell responses (83,143,144). The efficacy of both vaccines in children is not surprising, because unlike adults, young populations have limited pre-existing influenza immunity. Adults possess influenza-specific antibodies and influenza-reactive T cells that could significantly reduce the efficacy of seasonal vaccines. This complication is less of an issue in children. One concern with the above studies is that they focus on T cell responses specific for seasonal vaccine antigens. Achieving T cell immunity following influenza vaccination will require the establishment of broadly cross-reactive T cell populations. To our knowledge, the generation of cross-reactive T cells following TIV and LAIV vaccination in humans has not yet been characterized.

It is possible that enhancing influenza-specific CD4 helper T cell immunity may result in superior antibody responses following vaccination. Interactions between antigen-specific B cells and cognate CD4 helper T cells have been linked to B cell expansion, somatic hypermutation, and class-switching in multiple model systems (145-147). Since it is generally accepted that protection from influenza is correlated strongly to post-vaccination serum antibody titers against HA and NA, it is reasonable to conduct studies comparing HA-specific CD4 T cells and B cell responses resulting from seasonal influenza vaccination. In a recent human trial, CD4 T cells specific for HA from H1N1 and H3N2 viruses were induced by both TIV and LAIV; however, there was no evidence of any correlation in donors who displayed seroprotective HAI titers (96,142). Similar results were reported in a separate trial involving human donors that were

administered seasonal influenza vaccine followed by a 2009 H1N1 monovalent subunit vaccine 6 weeks later (148). Although most donors produced antibodies specific for 2009 H1N1, corresponding vaccine-associated T cell responses were highly variable. Additional studies will be necessary to conclusively determine whether a correlation exists between vaccine-induced CD4 T cell responses and humoral immunity in order to exploit this relationship in vaccine design.

# Use of Replication Restricted Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Vectors for Detection of Antigen-Specific T Cells

Nelson B. Moseley<sup>1</sup>, Oskar Laur<sup>1</sup>, Chris C. Ibegbu<sup>1</sup>, Gilbert D. Loria<sup>1</sup>, Gini Ikwuenzunma<sup>1</sup>, Himangi R. Jayakar<sup>3</sup>, Michael A. Whitt<sup>3</sup>, John D. Altman<sup>1,2</sup>

Emory Vaccine Center at the Yerkes National Primate Center at Emory University<sup>1</sup>; Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Emory University School of Medicine<sup>2</sup>; University of Tennessee Health Science Center at Memphis<sup>3</sup>

### Keywords and Running Title:

**Keywords**: VSV (vesicular stomatitis virus); ELISpot; intracellular cytokine staining (ICS); T cell assays; cytotoxic T cells; helper T cells

Running Title: Antigen delivery via VSV vectors for T cell assays

### Abstract

Detection of antigen-specific T cells at the single-cell level by ELISpot or flow cytometry techniques employing intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) is now an indispensable tool in many areas of immunology. When precisely mapped, optimal MHC-binding peptide epitopes are unknown, these assays use antigen in a variety of forms, including recombinant proteins, overlapping peptide sets representing one or more target protein sequences, microbial lysates, lysates of microbially-infected cells, or gene delivery vectors such as DNA expression plasmids or recombinant vaccinia or adenoviruses expressing a target protein of interest. Here we introduce replication-restricted, recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) vectors as a safe, easy to produce, simple to use, and highly effective vector for genetic antigen delivery for the detection of human antigen-specific helper and cytotoxic T cells. To demonstrate the broad applicability of this approach, we have used these vectors to detect human T cell responses to the immunodominant pp65 antigen of human cytomegalovirus, individual segments of the yellow fever virus polyprotein, and to influenza A and B hemagglutinin (HA).
## Introduction

The development and application of techniques such as MHC tetramer staining, ELISpot, and intracellular cytokine staining has transformed the study of T cell immune responses to microbes, tumors, auto-antigens, and vaccines. These assays—which permit detection of antigen-specific cells at the single cell level-do not require difficult to reproduce *in vitro* expansion protocols, and are widely regarded as the new "gold standards" for the characterization of T cell responses. When optimal peptide epitopes and their MHC restriction elements are mapped, MHC tetramers provide the most rapid method for detection of antigen-specific T cells and give direct access to physical phenotypes, but they do not detect function. In contrast, the ELISpot and ICS assays detect a specific function—the ability to produce one or more cytokines upon short-term stimulation with antigen-and they are considerably more flexible with respect to the form and range of antigens that can be used in the assays. Neither the ELISpot nor the ICS assay requires mapping of MHC restriction elements or optimal MHC-binding peptide epitopes, and both assays are often performed with "complex" antigens that might contain multiple distinct epitopes that are recognized by the T cell population of interest.

Although a wide range of antigens may be used for ELISpot or ICS assays, each has one or more significant limitations. Antigens delivered in the form of recombinant proteins, microbial lysates, and lysates of infected cells are largely restricted to exogenous antigen-processing pathways, and are therefore effective

for stimulation of  $CD4^+$  T cells but ill-suited to efficiently stimulate  $CD8^+$  T cells. Plasmid DNA has been used to deliver antigens for T cell assays (130), but since primary cells have low transfection efficiencies, its use requires highly transfectable cultured cell lines with an additional requirement for co-transfection with expression plasmids for one or more MHC alleles. Recombinant vaccinia viruses have been extensively used to deliver antigens for detection of antigen specific CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (128-129), but their production requires lengthy protocols involving homologous recombination and multiple rounds of plaque purification. Furthermore, pre-existing immunity prevents their use in vacciniaexposed individuals, including those who have received experimental vacciniabased vaccines. Finally, pools of overlapping peptides representing entire proteins or even small viruses are now commonly used to stimulate both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, but it is not economically feasible to routinely purchase all of the peptides that are required to contain all possible epitopes for large viruses, such as those in the pox and herpesviridae families, or for broad coverage for highly variable viruses, such as HIV or HCV. Under defined and common circumstances, each of these forms of antigen has significant theoretical and/or practical limitations, and new options for antigen delivery are needed.

Our search for a suitable antigen-delivery system began with the following criteria. (1) The antigen-delivery system had to be capable of stimulating both CD4 and CD8 T cells. (2) It had to do so using only fresh, ex vivo cell populations such as PBMC, without recourse to cultured stimulator cells such as B lymphoblastoid cell lines (B-LCL). In practice, this narrowed the search to viral

vectors. (3) Once the search was narrowed to recombinant viral vectors, they had to be easy to produce from plasmid DNA, without recourse to systems that require homologous recombination (effectively ruling out poxviruses). (4) The viral vector had to have reasonably broad tropism, both at the cellular and species level (it would be desirable if we could use the same constructs in mice, non-human primates, and humans). (5) There had to be little-to-no pre-existing immunity to vector epitopes; this made us leery of adenoviral vectors, because although many of them express negligible amounts of vector antigens upon infection, it is possible that the input adenovirus structural proteins could stimulate cells, especially CD4 T cells. (6) The vector should have the capacity to accommodate reasonably large insert sizes (up to 4 kb). (7) The vector had to give high levels of antigen expression early after infection. (8) The vector should have relatively low cytopathicity. (9) The vector should be inherently safe, at least at the BSL2 level. One virus that seems to meet all of these criteria is vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV).

Vesicular stomatitis virus is a member of the Rhabdoviridae family. It has an extremely compact, nonsegemented negative strand RNA genome with five nonoverlapping genes coding for viral proteins. Reverse genetics systems for efficient production of recombinant VSV from plasmid DNA were developed in the mid-1990s by the laboratories of Rose and Wertz (149,150). These techniques were originally designed to genetically manipulate the VSV genome for RNA virus assembly and replication studies. Further development of these methods soon made it possible to construct recombinant VSV encoding a foreign

protein of interest in place of the viral glycoprotein (VSV-G) in the VSV genome (VSV- $\Delta$ G). VSV- $\Delta$ G vectors are safe for routine laboratory use, because even though the recombinant virions are coated with VSV-G, they lack VSV-G in the recombinant genome and are thus capable of only one round of replication. Additionally, VSV- $\Delta$ G has a relatively large insert capacity (≥4 kb). For these reasons, we have used VSV- $\Delta$ G as a vector to introduce antigen to T cells. We generated a panel of VSV- $\Delta$ G constructs encoding various viral antigens and have developed a method to employ these constructs for antigen delivery in T cell ICS and ELISpot assays. Our results demonstrate that VSV- $\Delta$ G vectors represent an alternative and efficient antigen source for detecting antigen-specific T cells.

## **Materials and Methods**

#### 2.1. ELISpot

The IFN- $\gamma$  ELISPOT assay was performed as previously described (129,151). 2x10<sup>5</sup> to 5x10<sup>5</sup> human PBMC from a CMV-seropositive donor were infected with a recombinant VSV expressing the pp65 gene of human cytomegalovirus (VSV- $\Delta$ G.CMVpp65). PBMC from the same donor were also infected with a recombinant VSV encoding the nucleoprotein gene from lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (VSV- $\Delta$ G.LCMV-NP). Since LCMV infection is uncommon in human populations, VSV- $\Delta$ G.LCMV-NP infection was not expected to stimulate cytokine production, and this vector was used as a negative control virus for our studies in human subjects.

#### 2.2. Plasmid Construction

Plasmid pVSV- $\Delta$ G is a Bluescript-based plasmid that encodes the antigenome RNA of VSV. In this plasmid, the coding region for VSV-G has been removed and replaced with a polylinker (152). Genes of interest were inserted into the polylinker region of pVSV- $\Delta$ G using *Kpn I*, *Sph I*, and *Nhe I* restriction enzyme sites. For some constructs, a gene of interest was inserted into pVSV- $\Delta$ G using a ligation-independent cloning (LIC) method (153). Briefly, the polylinker region of pVSV- $\Delta$ G was replaced with a LIC sequence that upon linearization with *Sma I* and subsequent treatment with T4 DNA polymerase and dATPs yields specific overhangs. In the absence of ligase, these overhangs anneal with complimentary sequences flanking genes of interest that have been amplified with LIC primers and treated with T4 DNA polymerase and dTTPs. This method requires very few manipulations and is ideal when introducing various different inserts into the same vector.

#### 2.3. Recovery of Recombinant VSV-ΔG

Recombinant VSV- $\Delta$ G was produced as previously described (152,154,155). Briefly, baby hamster kidney cells (BHK-21; American Type Culture collection) were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM)/5% fetal bovine serum (FBS) at 37°C. BHK-21 cells on 6-well plates (~95% confluent) were infected with recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA) expressing T7 polymerase (MVA-T7) at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of approximately 1. Following a 90 min. incubation, plasmids encoding VSV-N, P, L, and G proteins and pVSV- $\Delta$ G containing a gene of interest (VSV- $\Delta$ G) were transfected at a ratio of 3:5:1:8:5, respectively, into the cells by using a liposome suspension of dimethyldioctadecyl ammonium bromide and L-a-

dioleoylphosphatidylethanolamine for 4 hours. 48 hours after transfection, supernatants were 0.22µm syringe-filtered (to remove MVA-T7) on to BHK-21 cells previously transfected with pCAGGS-VSV-G (~85% confluent) using Lipofectamine reagent (Invitrogen). VSV-G must be introduced in trans, because recombinant VSV-ΔG does not produce the viral glycoprotein. Following 24 to 48 hour incubation, successful recoveries were indicated by visualization of extensive cell rounding/cytopathic effect. Following recovery, virus was amplified on VSV-G-transfected BHK-21 cells, and viral titers were determined via plaque assay.

#### 2.4 Cryopreservation and Thawing of PBMC

Following PBMC isolation, cells were washed with RPMI-1640/10% FBS (R10) and resuspended at a final concentration of 5-10<sup>7</sup>/ml in R10 plus 10% DMSO (Sigma) in freezer vials. The cells were placed in a freezing container (Nalgene) and placed in a -80°C freezer overnight before transfer to liquid nitrogen. Cells were thawed in a 37°C water bath and washed with R10. After washing, cells were resuspended in R10 and incubated overnight in a 37°C incubator. On the following day, cells were washed with R10 prior to assay.

#### 2.5. Specimen Preparation and Assay Setup

Donor blood samples were collected in sodium citrate cell preparation tubes (Vacutainer, BD) and centrifuged at 1500g for 30 min. PBMC were then processed as directed by manufacturer and resuspended at  $10^7$ /ml in R10. In a 5ml polypropylene tube,  $10^6$  human PBMC were infected with VSV-ΔG viral supernatant in a total volume of 200µl at an MOI of 10 unless otherwise noted. Costimulatory antibodies CD28/CD49d (FastImmune, BD) were added to each sample at a final concentration of 1µg/ml. A cytokine blocking reagent, GolgiPlug (Brefeldin A, BfA; BD), was added 4 hr post-infection, unless otherwise specified. Samples were then incubated overnight at  $37^\circ$ C/5%CO<sub>2</sub> and were processed for flow cytometry analysis on the following day. In some experiments, pools of overlapping CMVpp65 peptides (BD) were used for PBMC stimulation at a final concentration of 1.75µg/ml. For these samples, BfA was added at the time of stimulation, unless otherwise stated.

#### 2.6. Surface Staining and Intracellular Cytokine Staining

Monocyte and dendritic cell (DC) tropism: PBMC infected with a recombinant VSV expressing GFP (VSV-ΔG-GFP) for 6 hr were washed and assayed via flow cytometry. CD14-APC (IO Test) was used to visualize monocytes. DCs were defined as staining positive for CD11c-APC (BD) and HLA-DR PerCP (BD) and negative for a lineage cocktail composed of (CD20, CD3, CD56, CD16, CD14)-PE (all BD). For monocyte viability studies, propidium iodide (BD) was included for live/dead discrimination.

T cell cytokine assays: Following VSV-ΔG infection and incubation, human PBMC were washed with PBS and permeabilized with FACS Permeabilizing Solution 2 (BD). Following permeabilization, the cells were again washed with PBS and stained with CD4-FITC (Coulter), CD3-PE (Coulter), CD8-PerCP (Coulter), and IFNγ-APC (BD). Samples were acquired on a FACSCalibur or LSRII flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, Mountain View, CA) and analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, Ashland, OR).

#### 2.7 Sucrose Purification of Recombinant VSV-ΔG Viral Supernatant

A 30% sucrose in PBS solution was added to 38.5ml Ultra-Clear<sup>TM</sup> tubes (Beckman). Viral supernatant was slowly added to the tubes in order to prevent disruption of the sucrose layer. The tubes were then centrifuged for 90 min at  $60,000 \times g$  in an Optima<sup>TM</sup> L-70K ultracentrifuge (Beckman) using an SW-28 rotor (Beckman). After centrifugation, the supernatant was removed, and purified virus was resuspended in 500µl R10.

#### 2.8. In Vitro T Cell Proliferation (CFSE)

A solution of  $0.6\mu$ M CFSE in PBS was prepared. Human PBMC were washed and resuspended in PBS at a concentration of 0.5 to  $1\times10^7$  /ml. Equal volumes of PBMC and  $0.6\mu$ M CFSE were mixed and incubated for 7 min at room temperature in the dark, vortexing every other minute. The CFSE-labeled PBMC were then washed twice with R10 to block CFSE and resuspended in R10 at a final concentration of  $1\times10^6$  /ml. 1ml CFSE-labeled PBMC was added to 5ml polypropylene tubes and infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G at an MOI of approximately 10 or stimulated with staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB, Sigma) as a positive control. Samples were then incubated at  $37^\circ$ C/5%CO<sub>2</sub> for 6 days. Following incubation, the cells were washed and stained with a live/dead discriminatory dye as well as CD8-PE (BD), CD4-APC (BD), and CD3 PacBlue (BD). Samples were acquired on a LSRII flow cytometer and analyzed using FlowJo software.

## Results

#### 3.1. VSV is Monocyte and Dendritic Cell Tropic

To determine the cell types in human PBMC that express an antigen of interest delivered by recombinant VSV- $\Delta G$  and are thus potentially capable of presenting antigen to T cells, we infected human PBMC with a recombinant VSV vector expressing GFP (VSV- $\Delta$ G-GFP; Figure 2.1a). Following 6 hr incubation, infected PBMC were stained for analysis by flow cytometry. GFP expression was found predominantly in CD14<sup>+</sup>, CD4<sup>low</sup> cells, indicating a tropism for monocytes. Dendritic cells (DCs), defined as CD11c+, Lin-, HLA-DR+, but not T, B, or NK cells, also expressed GFP. In short term culture (6 hr) GFP expression was not accompanied by significant cell death (data not shown). Kinetics studies were performed to determine the peak of GFP expression in monocytes and DCs infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G-GFP. In monocytes, the peak of GFP expression occurred earlier (0-6 hr) than in DCs (6-20 hr; Figures 2.1b and 2.1c), suggesting that monocytes are the chief presenters of antigen in early ex vivo infection with VSV. Furthermore, DCs are a significantly more rare population in PBMC compared to monocytes.

We infected fresh PBMC with VSV- $\Delta$ G-GFP at various MOI (0.4-25) to maximize the percentage of monocytes expressing GFP and determine the effect on monocyte viability. As expected, GFP expression was proportional to MOI, but importantly, monocyte viability was similar at each MOI, indicating that VSV infection does not induce extensive cytopathology after 6 hr in *in vitro* cultures

(data not shown). In an attempt to increase infectivity, experiments were conducted in the presence of polybrene, a cationic polymer that may serve to cluster virus and increase the number of particles that come into contact with infectable cells. The percentage of GFP positive monocytes increased only slightly when infected PBMC were incubated in the presence of polybrene (data not shown), and as a result, polybrene was not used in future experiments.

We tested the infectivity and viability of monocytes in fresh vs. cryopreserved PBMC for 3 donors, and we determined that monocyte viability following cryopreservation was similar to that of fresh PBMC (data not shown). When compared to fresh PBMC, infection of cryopreserved PBMC with VSV- $\Delta$ G-GFP resulted in decreased but easily detectable percentages of monocytes expressing GFP (Figure 2.1d). These results indicate that while fresh PBMC are presumably optimal in VSV- $\Delta$ G assays, cryopreserved PBMC are also appropriate for use.

#### 3.2. IFNg ELISpot Assay

As an initial test of whether antigen delivered by VSV- $\Delta$ G could stimulate the production of cytokines by antigen-specific T cells, we employed an IFNg ELISpot. Human PBMC from a CMV-seropositive donor were infected with several dilutions of VSV- $\Delta$ G.CMVpp65. The CMVpp65 gene codes for a tegument protein that has been previously characterized as highly immunodominant (156). PBMC from the same donor were also infected with a negative control construct, VSV- $\Delta$ G.LCMV-NP. In PBMC infected with VSV-

 $\Delta$ G.CMVpp65, an assayable number of spots representing individual IFNgproducing T cells was observed. Samples infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G.LCMV-NP displayed only background levels of cytokine production equivalent to that of uninfected controls, demonstrating that the observed cytokine production was entirely dependent upon the CMVpp65 insert (data not shown).

#### 3.3. Optimization of Time of Brefeldin A Addition

A limitation of the ELISpot assay is that it does not permit the direct discrimination between responding CD4 and CD8 antigen-specific T cells. In light of this, a flow cytometry-based intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) protocol was developed. 10<sup>6</sup> PBMC from a CMV-seropositive donor were infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G.CMVpp65 at an MOI of approximately 10. In parallel, PBMC from the same donor were stimulated with an overlapping 15-mer CMVpp65 peptide pool. Infection and CMVpp65 peptide pool stimulation were followed by BfA addition at various time points. BfA is commonly used in ICS assays as a means to block cytokine secretion (157), but it has also been shown to inhibit cell surface presentation of class I MHC molecules (158). Thus, it was essential to determine the optimal time post-infection to add BfA in order to generate maximum IFN $\gamma$ secretion by antigen-specific T cells. Following BfA addition and overnight incubation, IFN $\gamma$  production was assayed via ICS. In the VSV- $\Delta$ G.CMVpp65infected samples, optimal IFN<sub>y</sub> responses were observed at slightly different BfA addition time points for CD4 and CD8 T cells (3 hr vs. 4 hr post-infection, respectively; Figure 2.2a). Similar results were obtained after screening two additional donors (data not shown), and in future experiments, BFA was added 4

hr post-infection. In the CMVpp65 peptide pool-stimulated samples, optimal CD4 and CD8 T cell cytokine responses were attained when BfA was added at the time of stimulation (0 hr), consistent with previously published reports (127). For the VSV-ΔG.CMVpp65-infected samples, the percentages of IFN<sub>Y</sub>-producing CD4 and CD8 T cells at the 4 hr time point was 0.5% (CD4) and 0.61% (CD8). These frequencies are somewhat smaller than those of the CMVpp65 peptide pool-stimulated samples at the optimal 0 hr time point (0.86%, CD4; 0.74%, CD8) when compared directly, and similar results were found with samples from 3 additional donors (data not shown). It should be noted that the levels of CD4 and CD8 down-regulation were greater in the samples that were stimulated with the CMVpp65 peptide pool. This could be an indication that the CMVpp65 peptide pool is a stronger T cell stimulator than VSV-ΔG.CMVpp65, which may reflect previously published reports that potent inducers of T cell responses promote TCR down-regulation (159).

Cytokine production resultant from VSV- $\Delta$ G.CMVpp65 infection was compared in fresh vs. cryopreserved PBMC for 4 donors. Our results demonstrated that the frequencies of IFN<sub>Y</sub>-producing CD4 and CD8 T cells were only slightly diminished following infection of cryopreserved samples (Figure 2.2b), a desirable result given the interest in assessing T cell responses in cryopreserved samples, such as from a vaccine clinical trial.

#### 3.4. Effects of Carryover Antigen

For samples infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G.CMVpp65, IFN $\gamma$  production by CD4 T cells was detected when BfA was added at the time of infection, suggesting that IFN $\gamma$ production at this time point might be the result of carryover CMVpp65 antigen in our viral preparations. This was not unexpected as amplification of VSV vectors on BHK-21 cells presumably leads to some cell lysis as well as recombinant virus production, resulting in the subsequent release of antigen into the viral supernatant. Western blot analysis verified the presence of CMVpp65 protein antigen in viral supernatant stocks (data not shown). To determine the contribution of carryover CMVpp65 antigen, we infected human PBMC from CMV seropositive donors with VSV-ΔG.CMVpp65 viral supernatant at an approximate MOI of 5 under the following conditions: unpurified viral supernatant, unpurified/UV-inactivated, sucrose-purified supernatant, and sucrosepurified/UV-inactivated supernatant. BfA was added at 0, 2, and 4 hr postinfection, followed by overnight incubation. Whole protein antigen is known to be a very weak inducer of CD8 T cell responses, and as expected, UV inactivation of viral supernatant eliminated CD8 T cell responses (Figure 2.3), indicating that these responses were driven by newly synthesized antigen resulting from VSV- $\Delta$ G.CMVpp65 infection. Carryover CMVpp65 antigen does play a significant role in generating CD4 T cell responses, as indicated by the production of IFN $\gamma$  by CD4 T cells infected with UV-inactivated VSV-ΔG.CMVpp65. However, by comparing the frequencies of IFN $\gamma$ -producing CD4 T cells in PBMC that were infected with sucrose-purified virus stock versus PBMC infected with sucrose-

purified/UV-inactivated virus stock, it is demonstrated that VSV-ΔG.CMVpp65 infection is capable of generating detectable CD4 T cell responses.

#### 3.5. MOI Optimization

Infection of human PBMC with recombinant VSV at an MOI of 25 results in optimal APC infection (data not shown). To determine if this MOI leads to maximum IFN<sub>Y</sub> production by responding T cells, we infected human PBMC from 2 CMV-seropositive donors with VSV- $\Delta$ G.CMVpp65 at an MOI range from 0.4-25. BfA was added 4 hr post-infection. For each donor tested, an MOI of 12.5-25 generated the most robust IFN<sub>Y</sub> responses by antigen-specific CD4 and CD8 T cells (Figures 2.4a and 2.4b), although cytokine production was detectable at an MOI of less than 1. Based on these results, future assays were performed at a high MOI ( $\geq$ 10).

#### 3.6. Range of Antigens

We have used recombinant VSV vectors to detect T cell responses resulting from vaccination with the yellow fever virus vaccine strain 17D (YFV-17D). YFV-NS3 and YFV-NS4 are nonstructural YFV proteins, one of which (NS3) has been shown to contain a dominant CD8 T cell epitope in YFV 17D-immunized mice (160). PBMC from a YFV-17D-vaccinated individual (day 60 post-vaccination) were infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G constructs expressing YFV-NS3 (VSV- $\Delta$ G.YFV-NS3) and YFV-NS4 (VSV- $\Delta$ G.YFV-NS4). We were able to detect IFN $\gamma$ -producing CD4 and CD8 T cells specific for YFV-NS4 as well as CD8 T cell responses to YFV-NS3 (Figure 2.5a).

We also generated VSV- $\Delta$ G constructs encoding various influenza genes, including HA from A/New Caledonia/20/99 and B/Florida/04/06. PBMC from a healthy adult donor were infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G-A/New Caledonia/20/99-HA, and PBMC from a donor vaccinated with the 2008-2009 seasonal influenza vaccine were infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G-B/Florida/4/06-HA (day 14 post-vaccination). ICS analysis demonstrated that both vectors were capable of stimulating IFN<sub>Y</sub> production by influenza-specific CD4 T cells (Figure 2.5b). We rarely detected CD8 T cell responses to HA-expressing VSV- $\Delta$ G vectors (data not shown). This result was not unexpected, as recently published data indicates that CD8 T cell responses do not typically target influenza HA (173).

#### 3.7. VSV-ΔG-induced Proliferation of Antigen-specific T cells

We determined that VSV-ΔG constructs are capable of effectively stimulating antigen-specific T cells in ICS assays. As an alternative to an ICS-based assay in elucidating antigen-specific T cells, we tested the ability of VSV-ΔG vectors to induce T cell proliferation *in vitro*. PBMC from a CMV-seropositive donor were labeled with CFSE and infected with VSV-ΔG.CMVpp65 or VSV-ΔG.LCMV-NP at an MOI of approximately 10. At 6 days post-infection, the percentage of CFSE<sup>low</sup> CD4 and CD8 T cells in samples infected with VSV-ΔG.LCMV-NP was equivalent to baseline levels observed in uninfected controls (Figure 2.6a). In the samples infected with VSV-ΔG.CMVpp65, approximately 6% and 26% of CD4 and CD8 T cells, respectively, were CFSE<sup>low</sup>, demonstrating that VSV-ΔG vectors are capable of driving the proliferation of antigen-specific T cells. Additionally, we have used VSV-ΔG vectors to induce the proliferation of low

frequency influenza-specific CD8 T cell populations (Figure 2.6b). PBMC were prepared from a donor that was previously shown to possess CD4 and CD8 T cell populations specific for various A/California/04/09 (H1N1) gene products, including polymerase subunit B1 (PB1) and the viral nucleoprotein (NP; data not shown). These PBMC were infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G constructs encoding NP and PB1 from A/California/04/09 and cultured for 6 days. While both VSV- $\Delta$ Ginfluenza constructs were able to drive the proliferation of influenza-specific CD8 T cells, we were unable to detect the proliferation of CD4 T cells above background levels. It is possible that various culture manipulations, such as CD8 T cell depletion and the addition of cytokines, may promote a more favorable environment for the proliferation of CD4 T cells, but we have yet to explore these conditions.

## Discussion

ELISpot and ICS assays are widely regarded as the most powerful tools for detecting antigen-specific T cells and studying their function. Traditional antigens for ELISpot and ICS assays include whole protein, viral lysates (131), plasmid DNA (130), recombinant vaccinia (128-129), and overlapping peptide pools (Maecker et al. 2001), but these reagents each have significant limitations. Our aim was to develop an antigen delivery method that addressed these limitations while satisfying the previously discussed set of criteria established to ensure maximum assay utility. The most practical method for stimulating both CD4 and CD8 T cell responses in PBMC would employ the use of antigen delivery by viral vectors, but recombinant vaccinia and adenovirus are less than ideal vectors due to the high frequency of the general population with pre-existing immunity. All things taken into consideration, the most promising candidate was recombinant VSV- $\Delta$ G.

VSV has been reported as capable of infecting a broad range of cell types (161). We determined that following infection of PBMC with VSV- $\Delta$ G-GFP, the predominant GFP+ cell type was monocytes while GFP expression in DCs was apparent but delayed by several hours. GFP expression was not seen in T cells, B cells, and NK cells, and though it is entirely possible that T cells were infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G, it was beyond the scope of our studies to differentiate between viral entry and neo-antigen expression. For our purposes, it was significant that T cells were not eliminated to a large extent in early infection and that antigen

expression was limited to antigen-presenting cells. ICS assays were performed to measure IFNg production followed overnight infection with recombinant VSV- $\Delta$ G, and in all of our studies, T cell viability remained high, consistently providing ample cells for the detection of antigen-specific populations (data not shown).

Optimization of recombinant VSV- $\Delta$ G vectors for use in ICS assays was dependent upon two key parameters: the time of BfA addition to infected PBMC and optimal MOI. Maximum IFNg responses in CD4 and CD8 T cells were observed when BfA was added 3-4 hr following infection at an MOI of 10, a time point and MOI that is common in assays that employ recombinant vaccinia viruses for antigen delivery (128). Kinetic studies of monocyte and DC infection demonstrated that while a large percentage of monocytes express antigen delivered by VSV- $\Delta$ G 4 hr post-infection, few, if any, DCs expressed antigen at this time point. Given that addition of BfA 4 hr post-infection would be expected to largely inhibit surface presentation of MHC, this result is suggestive that monocytes are primarily responsible for activating antigen-specific T cell populations in overnight VSV- $\Delta$ G T cell assays.

Overlapping peptide pools are among the most commonly used and effective reagents for stimulating both CD4 and CD8 T cells in *ex vivo* cell populations. Recombinant VSV- $\Delta$ G vectors performed comparably to overlapping peptide pools in ICS assays, a highly desirable result when considering the well-established effectiveness of overlapping peptide pools in detecting antigenspecific T cell populations. The primary limitation of peptide pools is that the cost of synthesis could potentially make their use economically prohibitive in some

studies, such as vaccine trials that commonly generate massive numbers of samples to be processed or when mapping immunodominant epitopes in moderately large pathogens. VSV- $\Delta$ G replicates to a high titer in culture (10<sup>8</sup> to 10<sup>9</sup> infectious units/ml, typically), and expansion in a single 35mL tissue culture flask typically yields sufficient virus stock to perform hundreds of assays. This represents a significant advantage of recombinant VSV- $\Delta$ G in T cell assays – the potential to quickly and easily generate a large panel of reliable and effective reagents at little financial expense.

In addition to detecting T cell responses to immunodominant viral epitopes from HCMV in humans, VSV- $\Delta$ G vectors were effective in detecting T cell responses to YFV and influenza vaccination. Indeed, we believe that VSV- $\Delta$ G is an ideal tool for evaluating essentially any candidate vaccine designed to elicit T cell responses. Recombinant VSV- $\Delta$ G vectors are easy to produce, inexpensive, and potent stimulators of *in vitro* recall responses by antigen-specific T cells across multiple species. Our results clearly demonstrate that these vectors represent a powerful alternative to traditional methods for stimulating antigenspecific T cells in ELISpot and ICS assays.

## Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the NIH grant U19-AI057266 and the NIH/NIAID HHSN266200700006C Center of Excellence for Influenza Research and Surveillance. We thank Holden Maecker at BD Biosciences for supplying CMV.pp65 overlapping peptide pools, and Ed Mocarski for supplying human cytomegalovirus pp65 cDNA. We also acknowledge the Emory Center for AIDS Research (P30 AI050409) for flow cytometry support.

## **Figure Legends**

**Figure 2.1. VSV is monocyte tropic.** (A) GFP expression in monocytes following 6 hr infection of human PBMC with VSV-ΔG-GFP. Gated populations represent the percentages of GFP-expressing CD11c<sup>+</sup>, CD14<sup>+</sup>, and CD4<sup>+</sup> cells. (B) Kinetics of GFP expression in DCs (top) and monocytes (bottom) following VSV-ΔG-GFP infection. The percentages of GFP-expressing DCs and monocytes, respectively, are shown as gated populations with the frequencies of DCs and monocytes in total PBMC populations shown in the lower right corner of each plot. DCs are defined as CD11c<sup>+</sup>, lin<sup>-</sup> (CD20, CD3, CD56, CD16, CD14), HLA-DR<sup>+</sup> events, and monocytes are visualized by CD14 staining. (C) Graphical representation of GFP expression in VSV-ΔG-GFP-infected DCs (squares) and monocytes (triangles). (D) GFP expression in monocytes from fresh vs. cryopreserved PBMC for three donors following VSV-ΔG-GFP infection. The histograms shown are gated on live, CD14<sup>+</sup> events, and the percentage of GFPexpressing monocytes is shown.

Figure 2.2. Optimization of assay parameters for flow cytometric detection of T cell responses by VSV- $\Delta$ G antigen delivery. (A) Optimization of time of BfA addition. PBMC from a CMV-seropositive donor were stimulated with a CMVpp65 peptide pool (top) or infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G-CMVpp65 (bottom). BfA was added at various time points post-stimulation/infection. CD3+ lymphocytes are shown. IFN<sub>Y</sub>-producing cells (black) are overlaid on bulk CD4 and CD8 T cell populations, and statistics represent the percentages of IFN<sub>Y</sub>-producing CD4 and CD8 T cells. (B) Comparison of IFN $\gamma$  production in fresh vs. cryopreserved PBMC for two CMV-seropositive donors following VSV- $\Delta$ G-CMVpp65 infection. Shown are CD3+ lymphocytes. IFN $\gamma$ -producing cells (black) are overlaid on bulk CD4 and CD8 T cell populations, and statistics represent the percentages of IFN $\gamma$ -producing CD4 and CD8 T cells.

**Figure 2.3. Effects of carryover antigen.** PBMC from a CMV-seropositive donor were infected with unpurified VSV-ΔG-CMVpp65, unpurified/UV inactivated virus, sucrose-purified virus, and sucrose-purified/UV inactivated virus. BfA was added at 0, 2, and 4 hr post-infection. Shown are CD3-gated lymphocytes. IFNγ-producing cells (black) are overlaid on bulk CD4 and CD8 populations, and statistics given represent the percentages of IFNγ-producing CD4 and CD8 T cells.

**Figure 2.4. Optimization of MOI.** PBMC from two CMV-seropositive donors were infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G-CMVpp65 at an MOI range of 0.4-25. CD3-gated lymphocytes are shown. IFN<sub>Y</sub>-producing cells (black) are overlayed on bulk CD4 and CD8 populations, and statistics given represent the percentages of IFN<sub>Y</sub>producing CD4 and CD8 T cells. (B) The graph represents the fraction of the peak IFN<sub>Y</sub> response for CD4 (squares) and CD8 (triangles) T cells as a function of MOI for the donors in (A).

**Figure 2.5.** Evaluation of T cell responses to a range of antigens encoded by VSV- $\Delta$ G vectors. A. PBMC from a YFV-17D-vaccinated donor (day 60 postvaccination) were infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G-YFV-NS4A4B (top) and VSV- $\Delta$ G-YFV-

NS3 (bottom); B. PBMC from a healthy donor were infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G-A/New Caledonia/20/99-HA (top), and PBMC from a donor vaccinated with the 2008-2009 seasonal influenza vaccine were infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G-B/Florida/4/06-HA (day 14 post-vaccination; bottom). For all samples, CD3-gated lymphocytes are shown, and IFN $\gamma$ -producing cells (black) are overlayed on bulk CD4 and CD8 populations. Statistics represent the percentages of IFN $\gamma$ -producing CD4 and CD8 T cells.

# Figure 2.6. VSV- $\Delta$ G vectors drive the proliferation of antigen-specific T

**cells** *in vitro*. (A) PBMC from a CMV-seropositive donor were CFSE-labeled, infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G-CMVpp65; (B) PBMC from a donor that has previously been demonstrated to possess influenza-specific T cell populations were CFSElabeled and infected with VSV- $\Delta$ G vectors encoding PB1 or NP from influenza A (H1N1). Samples from (A) and (B) were cultured for 6 days prior to flow cytometry analysis, and the plots are gated on live, CD3+ events. As a positive control, PBMC were stimulated with staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB). The statistics shown represent the percentages of CFSE<sup>low</sup> CD4+ or CD8+ T cells.

Figure 2.1a







Figure 2.1c



Figure 2.1d







Figure 2.2b



Figure 2.3



Figure 2.4a



Figure 2.4b



Figure 2.5a,b







CFSE

## Figure 2.6b



CFSE
## Characterization of human T cell responses to 2010-2011 seasonal influenza vaccines

Nelson B. Moseley<sup>a</sup>, Tielin Qin<sup>b</sup>, Oskar Laur<sup>a</sup>, Jens Wrammert<sup>a</sup>, Chris C. Ibegbu<sup>a</sup> John D. Altman<sup>a,c,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Emory Vaccine Center at Yerkes National Primate Center at Emory University,
954 Gatewood Rd., Atlanta, GA, 30329 USA
<sup>b</sup>Department of Biostatistics and Bioinformatics, Emory University School of
Public Health, 1518 Clifton Rd. NE, Atlanta, GA, 30322 USA
<sup>c</sup>Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Emory University School of
Medicine, Rollins Research Center, Suite 3001, Atlanta, GA, 30322 USA

Author e-mail addresses: Nelson B. Moseley (<u>nmosele@emory.edu</u>), Tielin Qin (<u>tqin@emory.edu</u>), Oskar Laur (<u>oliaur@emory.edu</u>), Jens Wrammert (<u>jwramme@emory.edu</u>), and John D. Altman (<u>jaltman@emory.edu</u>) \* Corresponding author at: Emory Vaccine Center at Yerkes National Primate Research Center, 954 Gatewood Rd., Atlanta, GA, 30329 USA. Tel.: +1 404 727 5981; fax: +1 404 727 8508. Email address: <u>jaltman@emory.edu</u>

Abbreviations: recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus (rVSV)

## Abstract

There is considerable interest in enhancing the efficacy of seasonal influenza vaccination by incorporating conserved T cell epitopes to establish broadly cross-reactive T cell populations. The suitability of this approach is difficult to assess, because human T cell responses to influenza vaccination are poorly characterized. To address this issue, we measured vaccine-induced CD4 and CD8 T cell responses in adult donors following the administration of trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine (TIV) or live, attenuated influenza vaccine (LAIV). Our investigation included external proteins, hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA), and internal proteins, matrix protein 1 (M1) and nucleoprotein (NP), across multiple influenza A strains. Pre-existing T cell populations specific for external and internal influenza proteins were readily detectable in several donors. Although selected individuals generated modest vaccine-associated CD4 T cell responses specific for external proteins, trial participants as a group demonstrated poor boosting of baseline CD4 T cell responses specific for external proteins. LAIV was more effective than TIV in generating and maintaining CD4 T cell responses specific for internal proteins while both vaccines were ineffective in boosting external or internal proteinspecific CD8 T cell responses. Overall, our data suggests that current seasonal influenza vaccine approaches may be not be suitable for boosting and maintaining protective T cell immunity.

**Keywords:** influenza, trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine (TIV), live attenuated influenza vaccine (LAIV), CD4 T cell, CD8 T cell, cross-reactive

### Introduction

Influenza is a virus that causes acute, febrile disease of the respiratory tract and represents a major health burden for humans of all ages, especially infant and elderly populations. Seasonal vaccination remains the most effective tool for protecting individuals from disease, and there are currently two FDAapproved seasonal vaccines available in the United States, trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine (TIV) and live, attenuated influenza vaccine (LAIV). TIV is administered via intramuscular injection and is approved for use in individuals older than 6 months. LAIV is delivered to the lungs via inhalation of an intranasal mist and is currently approved for individuals between the ages of 2 and 49. TIV and LAIV also differ in the identity of their internal genomic backbones into which circulating, seasonal HA and NA genes are inserted. Internal genes for TIV are derived from an H1N1 strain, A/Puerto/Rico/08/34, and LAIV contains internal genes from A/Ann Arbor/06/60 (H2N2) and B/Ann Arbor/01/66. TIV is currently administered in the United States in split-virion form, in which inactivated viral particles are treated with detergent, such as Triton X-100, resulting in the enrichment of HA and NA in vaccine preparations.

It is generally accepted that in humans, the primary correlate of protection against seasonal influenza is the generation of antibodies specific for HA and to a lesser extent, NA. No T cell correlate of protection has been established in humans, even though mouse studies have demonstrated the protective potential of influenza-specific CD4 and CD8 T cells (103-105). Very little systematic

research of T cell responses to influenza vaccination has been performed in human subjects, and these studies have produced conflicting results. In trials comparing TIV and LAIV in children and adults, LAIV induced significant CD4 and CD8 T cell responses in children, but no vaccine-associated increase in influenza-reactive T cells was noted in adults for either vaccine group (143). T cell responses were highly variable in adults, and baseline levels of influenzaspecific CD4 and CD8 T cells were identified as significant negative correlates of vaccine-induced responses (162). Conversely, in a recent trial of 30 adult vaccinees, it was reported that the H1N1 and H3N2 components of both TIV and LAIV elicited significant H1 and H3-specific T cell responses in a majority of trial members, and this effect was observed in donors with both high and low influenza-specific T cell baseline levels (96,142). This discrepancy could be due to the different methods employed in each study. In the first, IFNy production in donor PBMC was measured by intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) following a 17hr infection with live influenza virus. In the second, influenza-specific T cells were detected via an IFNy ELISpot assay after expansion for seven days with overlapping HA peptide pools in the presence of IL-2. These results call attention to the need for more suitable and standardized methods of detecting influenzaspecific T cell populations.

Following the 2009 H1N1 pandemic, it was found that less than 5% of individuals under the age of 30 possessed antibodies that were cross-reactive with 2009 H1N1, demonstrating that prior seasonal vaccination or exposure

provided no protective antibody response against the highly divergent pandemic strain (141). Due to a high prevalence of conserved epitopes, influenza-specific T cells are thought to be less sensitive to high levels of antigenic variation. Numerous reports have shown that adults possess pre-existing levels of CD4 and CD8 T cells that cross-react with various proteins from H1N1 2009 (133,163). Additionally, it has recently been reported that both CD4 and CD8 T cells in healthy adults cross-react with internal proteins from H5N1 avian influenza virus (135,164,165), demonstrating that T cell populations established by seasonal vaccination or exposure are capable of recognizing epitopes present in novel subtypes. These and similar results have led to proposals that universal T cell influenza epitopes may be incorporated into seasonal vaccines to broaden protection and mitigate the severity of antigenically variant strains (166-168).

We recently developed a novel T cell quantitation assay that has been optimized for direct *ex vivo* detection of influenza-specific populations in human PBMC. This flow cytometry-based method employs recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus (rVSV) vectors to deliver antigen and represents a practical, economical, and efficacious alternative to overlapping peptide pools covering multiple influenza genes and strains. We have generated a panel of rVSV vectors that express various external (HA and NA) and internal (M1 and NP) influenza genes across multiple strains and subtypes, and we have used these reagents to evaluate direct *ex vivo* CD4 and CD8 T cell responses to 2010-2011 TIV and LAIV in adult donor PBMC. Our primary goals were (1) to investigate the

specificity and kinetics of T cell responses following TIV and LAIV vaccination, (2) to determine the effect of pre-existing influenza-specific T cells levels on responses to vaccination, and (3) to examine the potential of influenza vaccines to elicit broadly cross-reactive T cell responses. This study characterizes T cell responses to 2010-2011 seasonal influenza vaccines and provides insight into the suitability of employing conventional vaccine strategies in generating broadly cross-reactive T cell immunity.

### **Materials and Methods**

#### 2.1. Plasmid Construction

Plasmid pVSV-ΔG is a Bluescript-based plasmid that encodes the antigenome RNA of VSV. In this plasmid, the coding region for VSV-G has been removed and replaced with a polylinker (152). Various internal and external influenza genes were inserted into the polylinker region of pVSV-ΔG using *Kpn I*, *Sph I*, and *Nhe I* restriction enzyme sites. For some constructs, a gene of interest was inserted into pVSV-ΔG using a ligation-independent cloning (LIC) method (153). Briefly, the polylinker region of pVSV-ΔG was replaced with a LIC sequence that upon linearization with *Smal* and subsequent treatment with T4 DNA polymerase and dATPs yields specific overhangs. In the absence of ligase, these overhangs anneal with complimentary sequences flanking genes of interest that have been amplified with LIC primers and treated with T4 DNA polymerase and dTTPs. This method requires very few manipulations and is ideal when introducing various different inserts into the same vector.

#### 2.2. Recovery of Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus

Recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus (rVSV) was produced as previously described (152-155). Briefly, baby hamster kidney cells (BHK-21; American Type Culture collection) were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM)/5% fetal bovine serum (FBS) at 37°C. BHK-21 cells on 6-well plates (~95% confluent) were infected with recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA) expressing T7 polymerase (MVA-T7) at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of approximately 1. Following a 90 minute incubation, plasmids encoding VSV-N, P, L, and G proteins and pVSV- $\Delta$ G containing a gene of interest (VSV- $\Delta$ G) were transfected at a ratio of 3:5:1:8:5, respectively, into the cells by using a liposome suspension of dimethyldioctadecyl ammonium bromide and L-a-dioleoylphosphatidylethanolamine for 4 hours. 48 hours after transfection, supernatants were 0.22µm syringe-filtered (to remove MVA-T7) on to BHK-21 cells previously transfected with pCAGGS-VSV-G (~85% confluent) using Lipofectamine reagent (Invitrogen). VSV-G must be introduced in trans, because recombinant VSV- $\Delta$ G does not produce the viral glycoprotein. Following 24 to 48 hour incubation, successful recoveries were indicated by visualization of extensive cell rounding/cytopathic effect. Following recovery, virus was amplified on VSV-G-transfected BHK-21 cells, and viral titers were determined via plaque assay.

#### 2.3. Specimen Preparation and Assay Setup

Donor blood samples were collected in sodium citrate cell preparation tubes (Vacutainer, BD) and centrifuged at 1500g for 30 minutes. PBMC were then processed as directed by the manufacturer and resuspended at 10<sup>7</sup>/ml in RPMI-1640/10% FBS (R10). In a 5ml polypropylene tube, 10<sup>6</sup> human PBMC were infected with rVSV viral supernatant at an MOI of approximately 10 in a total volume of 200µl. Costimulatory antibodies CD28/CD49d (FastImmune, BD) were added to each sample at a final concentration of 1µg/ml. A cytokine blocking reagent, GolgiPlug (Brefeldin A, BD), was added 4 hr post-infection.

Samples were then incubated overnight at  $37^{\circ}C/5\%CO_{2}$  and were processed for flow cytometry analysis on the following day.

#### 2.4. Intracellular Cytokine Staining

Following rVSV infection and incubation, human PBMC were washed with PBS and permeabilized with FACS Permeabilizing Solution 2 (BD). After permeabilization, the cells were again washed with PBS and stained with CD4-FITC (BD), CD3-PacBlue (BD), CD8-ECD (Coulter), CD14-APC/Cy7 (BioLegend), CD20-APC/Cy7 (BioLegend), CD69-PerCP (BD), IFNγ-APC (BD), TNFα-PE/Cy7 (eBioscience), and IL-2-PE (R&D Systems). All samples were acquired on an LSRII flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, Mountain View, CA) and analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, Ashland, OR).

#### 2.5. IgG antibody-secreting cell (ASC) ELISpot Assay

The IgG ASC ELISpot assay was performed as previously described (92). The antigen used in the assay was a 2010-2011 inactivated seasonal influenza vaccine. Following stimulation of donor PBMC, influenza-specific IgG ASCs were detected via incubation with biotinylated anti-human IgG antibodies (Caltag) followed by development with AEC substrate (Sigma). Analysis of developed ELISpot plates was performed with an automated ELISpot counter (Cellular Technologies Ltd., Shaker Heights, OH).

#### 2.6. Statistical Analysis

The two-tailed Mann Whitney test was used to compare baseline T cell

responses specific for influenza proteins with negative controls. Influenza-specific T cell responses within the same vaccine group were compared with the twotailed Wilcoxon matched pairs test. P values were designated as follows: P < 0.05 (\*), 0.01 (\*\*), and 0.005 (\*\*\*). These tests were performed with Prism software (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA). Linear regression analysis was also conducted with Prism software. A mixed linear model was performed to generate response estimates, in number of CD69<sup>+</sup> IFN $\gamma^+$  cells / 10<sup>6</sup> T cells, for days 0, 7, and 14 for all influenza strains in the TIV and LAIV groups. The differences in CD4 T cell responses between day 0-7 and day 0-14 for both the TIV and LAIV group were tested, and significance was defined as P < 0.05. In this study, we conducted repeated measurements on test subjects over time. Repeated measurements on the same subject usually correlated and often exhibited heterogeneous variability. A SAS Proc Mixed procedure was used to conduct the repeated measures analysis that account for within-subject covariability. This analysis was conducted using SAS 9.2 software (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC).

## Results

#### 3.1. Detection of influenza-specific T cells using rVSV vectors

We recently developed and optimized an ICS-based T cell quantitation assay that employs recombinant vesicular stomatitis viruses (rVSV) as a source of antigen (submitted for publication). This assay permits direct ex vivo visualization of influenza-specific CD4 and CD8 T cell populations in human PBMC, as demonstrated in Figure 3.1. PBMC from two donors who were administered TIV (Donor 083) or LAIV (Donor 093) were isolated at multiple time points postvaccination and infected with rVSV vectors expressing M1 or NP from multiple influenza A strains: A/Puerto Rico/08/34 (A/PR/08/34; H1N1), A/Ann Ann Arbor/06/60 (A/AA/06/60, H2N2), and A/California/04/09 (A/Cal/04/09; H1N1). As a negative control, cells were infected with an rVSV construct that expresses NP from lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (rVSV.LCMV-NP). LCMV does not typically infect humans, so most donors would not be expected to respond to rVSV.LCMV-NP in a short-term T cell assay. Following a 16 h incubation, the cells were analyzed for IFNy production via intracellular cytokine staining (ICS). Robust CD4 T cell responses to M1 from A/PR/08/34 and A/AA/06/60 were observed following vaccination in Donor 093 (Figure 3.1a). These responses peaked at day 7 post-vaccination and remained above baseline levels through day 30. CD4 T cells specific for M1 from A/Cal/04/09 were not detected in this donor, although responses to M1<sub>A/Cal/04/09</sub> were observed in additional subjects (Figure 3.5b). An example of a CD8 T cell response to NP is demonstrated in

Figure 3.1b. Donor 083 possessed detectable baseline levels of CD8 T cells specific for NP from all three strains tested. Following a slight decrease of NP-specific CD8 T cell levels on day 7, responding populations rose above baseline levels by day 14. For this donor, on days 0-14, a greater number of CD8 T cells responded to NP<sub>A/PR/08/34</sub> and NP<sub>A/Cal/04/09</sub> than NP<sub>A/AA/06/60</sub> although by day 30, responses specific for NP from each strain were essentially identical. Importantly, background levels of responding cells in the negative controls were low, less than 0.005% of total CD4 T cells for Donor 093 and undetectable for Donor 083. This is a key requirement when attempting to visualize low frequency populations.

It has been previously reported that upon stimulation with influenza viral lysate, influenza-specific CD4 T cells commonly co-express multiple cytokines, such as IFN $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$ , and IL-2, (220), and we observed this using the rVSV antigen delivery system as well (Figure 3.1c). PBMC from one donor were infected with rVSV vectors expressing NP from A/PR/08/34 or LCMV. This donor demonstrated a clear CD4 T cell response to NP from A/PR/08/34, which peaked at day 7 and remained above baseline through day 30. At each time point, IFN $\gamma$  production was accompanied by the production of both TNF $\alpha$  and IL-2. Triple cytokine production was common in essentially all donors that possessed influenza-specific CD4 T cells (data not shown). Overall, these results demonstrate that utilizing rVSV vectors as an antigen source in T cell assays

represents a valid method for studying human T cell responses to influenza vaccination.

#### 3.2. Study parameters

To investigate human T cell responses to 2010-11 influenza vaccines we analyzed vaccine-induced CD4 and CD8 T cell responses specific for two external proteins (HA and NA) and two internal proteins (M1 and NP) across multiple influenza A strains following vaccination with TIV or LAIV (FluMist<sup>®</sup>, Medimmune LLC). All study samples were collected during the 2010-11 influenza vaccine trial conducted by the Emory Influenza Pathogenesis and Immunology Research Center (Emory IPIRC). The demographics of study participants are provided in Table 1. All trial donors were adults ranging from 23 to 53 years of age. The previous vaccination and infection history of the trial members was unknown. A few donors demonstrated baseline levels of CD4 or CD8 T cells that responded the rVSV.LCMV-NP negative control construct (data not shown). It is possible that these donors were exposed to LCMV, VSV, or another virus that generated T cell cross-reactivity to rVSV.LCMV-NP, and these donors were excluded from the remainder of our study. Our investigation of vaccineassociated T cell responses to external proteins included 2009 H1N1, A/Cal/04/09, and all of the H1N1 representatives of seasonal influenza vaccines since 2000: A/New Caledonia/20/99 (A/NC/20/99), A/Solomon Islands/03/06 (A/SI/03/06), and A/Brisbane/59/07 (A/Br/59/07; Table 2). A/California/07/09 is an A/Cal/04/09-like strain that was chosen as the H1N1 component of 2010-2011 seasonal vaccines. External proteins from this strain are genetically similar to HA

from A/Cal/04/09 (1 amino acid substitution) and identical to A/Cal/04/09 NA (169). The strains included in our studies of T cell responses to internal proteins included A/Cal/04/09, as well as A/PR/08/34 and A/AA/06/60, which serve as the genetic backbones of TIV and LAIV, respectively. Donors were split into two groups to be assayed for either external or internal influenza protein-specific T cell responses at days 0, 7, 14, 28, and 90 relative to vaccination. This division was necessary, because we did not have an adequate number of cells to assay for both external and internal responses in individual donors. For this reason, we were also unable to investigate H3N2-specific T cell responses.

#### 3.3. T cell responses to external influenza proteins following vaccination

PBMC from 18 vaccinated donors (8 TIV and 10 LAIV) were assayed for CD4 and CD8 T cell responses specific for external influenza proteins using rVSV vectors encoding HA and NA from the influenza strains listed in Table 2. Baseline CD4 T cell responses specific for HA and NA from each strain were significantly higher than negative controls (Mann Whitney test; Figure 3.2a). Day 0 HA- and NA-specific CD4 T cell responses were of similar magnitude, all within a range of 75 to 175 CD69<sup>+</sup> IFNγ<sup>+</sup> cells / 10<sup>6</sup> CD4s, with baseline responses to NA from A/Cal/04/09 and A/NC/20/99 being the highest. Baseline CD4 T cell responses to HA<sub>A/Cal/04/09</sub> were noticeably higher in the LAIV group, with 5 out of 10 LAIV-vaccinated donors demonstrating day 0 HA<sub>A/Cal/04/09</sub>-specific CD4 T cell responses greater than 100 CD69<sup>+</sup> IFNγ<sup>+</sup> cells / 10<sup>6</sup> CD4s (Figure 3.2b). This is almost certainly attributable to the random placement of donors with higher baseline HA<sub>A/Cal/04/09</sub>-specific CD4 T cell levels into the LAIV group. Day 0 CD4 T

cell responses to HA from the vaccine strain, A/Cal/04/09, did not significantly change at any time point for either vaccine group. Weak, yet statistically significant vaccine-associated cross-reactive CD4 T cell responses to  $HA_{A/NC/20/99}$ and  $HA_{A/Br/59/07}$  were observed at day 14 in the TIV group (Wilcoxon matched pairs test). We also noted a small, significant vaccine-associated day 14 CD4 T cell response specific for  $NA_{A/Cal/04/09}$  in the TIV group, but there was no indication of vaccine induced cross-reactive responses to NA (Figure 3.2c).

According a mixed linear model, significant CD4 T cell responses specific for  $HA_{A/NC/20/99}$  and  $NA_{A/Cal/04/09}$  were detected at day 14 in the TIV group (Table 3), although the meagerness of these responses would suggest that any vaccineinduced response observable in the peripheral blood is minimal. No vaccineassociated CD4 T cell boost was noted in the LAIV group. Taken together, the results from our studies of human CD4 T cell responses to external influenza proteins indicates that while baseline populations are easily detected in many donors, their levels are only weakly boosted, if at all, by seasonal influenza vaccination.

We did not detect significant baseline levels of CD8 T cells specific for HA or NA from any of the influenza strains tested, indicating that these proteins may not be major targets for CD8 T cell responses (data not shown). Additionally, we did not detect significant vaccine-associated increases in CD8 T cell responses to HA or NA from either the TIV or LAIV group (data not shown).

## 3.4. Vaccine-associated CD4 T cell responses to external influenza proteins are cross-reactive

Although adults as a group display few significant increases in CD4 T cell responses to external influenza proteins following TIV or LAIV administration, a number of individual donors generated CD4 T cell responses to external H1N1 vaccine components (Figure 3.3). For these donors, populations of circulating CD4 T cells specific for HA or NA from A/Cal/04/09 typically peaked at day 7 or 14 and returned to baseline by day 30. 5 out of 18 (28%; 3 TIV/2 LAIV) donors tested responded to HA, and 6 out of 18 (33%; 4 TIV/2 LAIV) subjects responded to NA (Figure 3.3a).

Due to a presumed presence of shared epitopes, we anticipate that donors who responded to the vaccine strain, A/Cal/04/09, should demonstrate crossreactivity to external proteins derived from more conventional H1N1 strains. As expected, we found that CD4 T cell cross-reactivity was quite common in responding donors. An example of vaccine-induced cross-reactive CD4 T cell responses is shown in Figure 3.3b. For this donor, cross-reactive responses were comparable in magnitude and followed nearly identical kinetics to those specific for A/Cal/04/09. Overall, these results indicate that while influenza vaccination does not generally induce potent CD4 T cell responses in the general adult population, many individual vaccine recipients generate detectable responses that are cross-reactive across multiple strains within the H1N1 subtype.

# 3.5. Comparison of post-vaccination IgG-secreting ASC levels and CD4 T cell responses to external influenza proteins at day 7

Figure 3.4 shows peak IgG ASC responses for 18 donors, 8 TIV and 10 LAIV, involved in our study of T cell responses to external influenza proteins. It has been previously reported in adults that TIV induces IgG ASC responses superior to those following LAIV administration (95), and this observation was reproduced in our vaccine trial, as only 1 out of 10 donors in the LAIV group exhibited appreciable IgG ASC responses at day 7 compared to 6 out of 8 in the TIV group (Figure 3.4). Since interactions between antigen-specific B cells and cognate CD4 T cells have been linked to B cell help in multiple systems (90,145,146), we compared day 7 levels of IgG ASCs with corresponding CD4 T cell responses specific for external proteins from the vaccine strain, A/Cal/04/09. The sum of day 7 A/Cal/04/09 HA- and NA-specific CD4 T cell responses for TIV and LAIV group members is shown. Although linear regression analysis of TIV group members revealed no significant relationship between vaccine-induced CD4 T cell responses and ASC levels, we did not have a sufficient number of trial members in this group to properly investigate any correlation. Due to the paucity of IgG responders in the LAIV group, we did not perform statistical analysis on these donors.

## 3.5. CD4 T cell responses to internal influenza proteins following vaccination

Our investigation of CD4 and CD8 T cell responses to internal influenza proteins included the strains listed in Table 2. PBMC from 22 vaccinated donors

(12 TIV and 10 LAIV) were assayed for CD4 and CD8 T cell responses specific for internal influenza proteins using rVSV vectors expressing M1 and NP from each strain. We did not have adequate donor PBMC to screen more than two internal proteins, so we chose the internals that appear most prominently in the literature. Baseline CD4 T cell responses specific for M1 and NP from each strain were significantly higher than negative controls (Mann Whitney test; Figure 3.5a). Pre-existing A/Cal/04/09 M1-specific CD4 populations were lower than that of A/PR/08/34 and A/AA/06/60, possibly because the donors tested had not been exposed to A/Cal/04/09 M1, which is derived from a Eurasian swine lineage that had not been reported in North America prior to the 2009 H1N1 pandemic (62). Sequence analysis of the three strains reveals that A/Cal/04/09 differs from both A/PR/08/34 and A/AA/0/60 by 9 amino acids that are contained within 7 previously published class II epitopes (Supplementary Data 1). TIV recipients did not display a vaccine-associated M1-specific CD4 T cell response for any of the strains tested (Figure 3.5b). This result was not unexpected, as TIV is administered in split-virion form in which internal influenza proteins have been removed from vaccine preparations by detergent treatment and purification. The extent of internal protein removal has, to our knowledge, not been explored fully; however, it has been shown that detectable concentrations of internal proteins are present in TIV (170-172). LAIV significantly boosted pre-existing CD4 T cell populations specific for A/AA/06/60 and also induced expansion of CD4 T cells specific for M1 from A/PR/08/34, and to a lesser extent, A/Cal/04/09, in a crossreactive manner (Wilcoxon matched pairs test). Responses were transient,

peaking at day 7, and although we observed statistically significant responses beyond this time point for each strain in the LAIV group, expanded populations returned nearly to baseline levels by day 14. CD4 T cell responses to NP followed similar kinetics to that of M1 but were noticeably less robust (Figure 3.5c). Members from both the TIV and LAIV group responded significantly to NP from their respective genetic backbones, A/PR/08/34 and A/AA/06/60, at day 7. These responses are comparable, except for two donors in the LAIV group (donors 062 and 117). These donors generated robust NP-specific CD4 T cell responses and were largely responsible for the increased statistical significance attributed to the LAIV group. Both TIV and LAIV induced low level but statistically significant expansion of cross-reactive CD4 T cell responses to A/Cal/04/09 NP at day 7, and this response was more effectively maintained for donors in the LAIV group.

According to a mixed linear model, LAIV was the more potent inducer of internal protein-specific CD4 T cell responses (Table 4). Significant day 7 responses specific for M1 and NP were detected for all strains tested in the LAIV group, and with the exception of M1 from A/Cal/04/09, the estimated differences between baseline and day 7 were greater than 150 CD69<sup>+</sup> IFN $\gamma^+$  cells / 10<sup>6</sup> CD4s. Taken together, these results suggest that LAIV is more effective than TIV in boosting and maintaining CD4 T cell responses to internal influenza proteins.

# 3.6. CD8 T cell responses to internal influenza proteins following vaccination

Baseline CD8 T cell responses specific for M1 and NP from each strain were significantly higher than negative controls (Mann Whitney test; Figure 3.6a). Day 0 internal protein-specific CD8 T cell responses were generally higher than those observed for CD4 T cells, with selected individual donors in each vaccine group possessing pre-existing M1- and NP- specific populations greater than 2000 CD69<sup>+</sup> IFNy<sup>+</sup> CD8 T cells / 10<sup>6</sup> total CD8s. Despite the presence of baseline M1- and NP-specific CD8 T cell populations, both TIV and LAIV were shown to be ineffective at boosting these cells following vaccination (Figure 3.6b,c). We noted a significant day 7 response to NP from A/Cal/04/09 in the LAIV group, but this vaccine-induced effect was guite weak. The significant NPspecific CD8 T cell responses at days 30 and 90 in the LAIV group were skewed by a few donors who tested higher at these time points, possibly due to seasonal influenza exposure. Since any vaccine-associated boosting typically occurred at days 7 or 14, it is probable that these responses were unrelated to vaccination. These results were consistent with the findings of a mixed linear model (Table 5). Overall, we conclude that while CD8 T cells specific for internal influenza proteins are readily detectable in the general population, both TIV and LAIV fail to appreciably boost these populations.

## Discussion

The role of T cells in the immune response to influenza infection in humans is poorly understood. Properly defining any T cell-mediated contribution has been greatly hindered by numerous factors, including a paucity of reagents that permit the accurate measurement of influenza-specific CD4 and CD8 T cell populations in blood samples. Circulating influenza-specific T cells are known to be quite scarce, and visualizing them requires the use of very sensitive techniques. Currently, the most common and effective method for detecting antigen-specific T cells is the use of overlapping peptide pools as a source of antigen followed by ELISpot or ICS assay. These reagents are expensive to synthesize, however, and may be economically inappropriate for studies involving multiple antigens or large numbers of samples to be screened. We propose that influenza protein-expressing rVSV vectors represent an appropriate alternative to overlapping peptide pools in influenza-specific T cell assays for the following reasons. First, we observed that when donors generated CD4 or CD8 T cell responses specific for an internal influenza protein from one of the strains tested, they typically reacted to one or both of the other strains, both in terms of magnitude and kinetics (Figure 3.1). This was expected, because numerous MHC class I and class II epitopes are conserved across multiple strains and subtypes. This gives us confidence that the use of influenza protein-expressing rVSV vectors in T cell assays yields physiologically sound results. Second, a number of groups that have published influenza-specific T cell studies employing overlapping peptides as an antigen source report T cell frequencies that are

comparable to those observed in our study (132, 133, 139). Third, like overlapping peptide pools, rVSV vectors perform well in short-term overnight assays, averting the need for *in vitro* culture manipulations. Fourth, rVSV vectors have the added advantage of expressing proteins that are naturally processed and presented by antigen-presenting cells. Finally, rVSV vectors are inexpensive and can quickly be produced and expanded.

We report significant levels of pre-existing CD4 T cell populations specific for external influenza proteins from multiple influenza A strains. However, we observed minimal boosting above baseline following vaccination. In responding donors, we noted CD4 T cell cross-reactivity against various other H1N1 viruses, demonstrating that previous seasonal influenza vaccination or exposure induces broadly cross-reactive CD4 T cell immunity. Since post-vaccination serum antibody titers against HA and NA are strongly correlated to protection in humans, multiple groups have compared cognate HA-specific CD4 T cell and B cell responses resulting from seasonal influenza vaccination. Recent comparisons of pre-existing H1N1 HA-specific T cell responses and seasonal H1N1 hemagglutination inhibition assay (HAI) titers failed to reveal a correlation (218). Similar results were reported in a separate trial comparing postvaccination H3N2 HA-specific T cell and vaccine-associated B cell responses (96). We observed no obvious correlation between influenza-specific CD4 T cell responses and influenza-specific IgG ASC levels following vaccination; however our results were not conclusive, as we did not have sufficient donors in our study

to perform a comprehensive comparison. Additional studies will be necessary to conclusively determine whether any correlation exists between influenza-specific CD4 T cells and humoral responses in order to exploit this relationship for the purpose of designing more efficacious seasonal influenza vaccines.

We were unable to detect significant levels of pre-existing CD8 T cells specific for external influenza proteins or any appreciable vaccine-induced responses to these proteins. There currently exists no data in humans that would suggest a role for CD8 T cell responses to external influenza proteins in humans. Recent studies comparing predicted MHC class I epitopes with previously published class I-restricted peptides failed to identify a single CD8 T cell epitope for HA and few for NA (173). Additionally, donor PBMC stimulated with peptides derived from observed predicted epitopes from external proteins exhibited weak *in vitro* recall CD8 T cell responses (168). Our conclusion is that in humans, influenza HA and NA are not major targets for CD8 T cell responses.

It has been recently reported that while CD8 T cell responses to an immunodominant seasonal influenza NP peptide (NP<sub>418</sub> LPFDKSTIM) are present in individuals who were previously unexposed to A/Cal/04/09, corresponding responses to variant NP<sub>418</sub> sequences from A/Cal/04/09 and 1918 H1N1 were absent, demonstrating the capability of influenza viruses to escape immunodominant CD8 T cell responses (138,174). However, based on sequence analysis of internal proteins from A/Cal/04/09, we expect some degree of cross-

reaction between conserved epitopes from A/Cal/04/09 and seasonal strains due to the invariant nature of these proteins (175). We showed that baseline CD8 T cell populations specific for M1 and NP from A/PR/08/34, A/AA/06/60, and A/Cal/04/09 were readily detectable in several trial participants. Furthermore, baseline responses to M1 and NP from A/Cal/04/09 were comparable to those of A/PR/08/34 and A/AA/06/60. These results are corroborated by recent reports of pre-existing immunity to A/Cal/04/09 in the general population (139,176). Our data suggests that in the presumed absence of exposure to highly variant influenza strains, such as A/Cal/04/09, seasonal vaccination and exposure to seasonal strains is sufficient to produce CD8 T cell cross-reactivity.

There is currently considerable interest in blending "universal" CD8 T cell epitopes that are broadly cross-reactive with various strains of internal influenza proteins into seasonal influenza vaccines in an effort to provide protection against highly variant strains, such as A/Cal04/09. This interest is largely driven by an abundance of data in mouse models that exhibit cross-protective vaccineassociated CD8 T cell responses to internal influenza proteins (177-181). Our results indicate that in human donors, both TIV and LAIV fail to appreciably boost CD8 T cell responses specific for internal influenza proteins from A/Cal/04/09, despite detectable baseline populations. We are aware of only one report of robust CD8 T cell responses to internal A/Cal/04/09 proteins, and this observation was made in patients who were clinically diagnosed with A/Cal/04/09 infection (174). This raises the question about whether inactivated and live,

attenuated vectors are sufficiently immunogenic to boost pre-existing CD8 T cell responses to an efficacious level.

Our characterization of human T cell responses to 2010-2011 seasonal influenza vaccines revealed two main findings. First, rVSV vectors are a practical and accurate means of antigen delivery for influenza-specific quantitative T cell assays in humans. Second, by using the rVSV system, we determined that 2010-2011 seasonal influenza vaccines were generally inefficacious in inducing robust post-vaccination T cell responses in human populations. It should be noted that T cell analysis in PBMC might not precisely predict immune responses that occur at major sites of viral replication, such as the lungs or draining lymph nodes, so we must be careful when interpreting data derived from peripheral blood samples. Despite this consideration, we conclude that new technologies, such as adjuvants and alternative vaccine delivery systems, will be essential to induce protective T cell immunity in influenza vaccination.

## Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the NIH grant U19-AI057266 and the NIH/NIAID HHSN266200700006C Center of Excellence for Influenza Research and Surveillance. We thank Zhongying Chen at Medimmune LLC for supplying external genes from seasonal influenza strains and Joshy Jacob for supplying A/Cal/04/09 cDNA. We also acknowledge Aneesh Mehta, M.D., of the Emory Transplant Center (ETC) for providing demographic information and would like to thank the clinicians at the ETC for their efforts in vaccine trial coordination.

## **Figure Legends**

Figure 3.1. Visualization of influenza-specific T cells using rVSV vectors. Following influenza vaccination, PBMC from Donor 093 (LAIV-vaccinated; A) and Donor 083 (TIV-vaccinated; B) were were isolated at multiple time points and infected with M1- or NP-expressing rVSV vectors. Following overnight incubation, the cells were assayed for IFN $\gamma$  production via ICS. PBMC from Donor 062 (LAIV-vaccinated) were infected with rVSV vectors encoding NP from A/PR/08/34 were tested for IFN $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$ , and IL-2 production at various time points (C). CD3-gated lymphocytes are shown, and statistics represent the percentages of CD69<sup>+</sup> cytokine-producing CD4 or CD8 T cells.

**Figure 3.2. CD4 T cell responses to external influenza proteins.** Preexisting CD4 T cell responses specific for HA and NA from A/NC/20/99, A/SI/03/06, and A/Br/59/07, and A/Cal/04/09 for all external group participants (*n* = 18) were compared with the Mann Whitney test. CD4 T cell responses specific for HA (B) and NA (C) from the above strains were measured at multiple postinfection time points in the TIV (*n* = 8) and LAIV (*n* = 10) groups. Statistical analysis was performed with the Wilcoxon matched pairs test. For all samples, responses are reported as number of CD69<sup>+</sup> IFNγ<sup>+</sup> cells / 10<sup>6</sup> CD4 T cells. Asterisks show *P* < 0.05 (\*), 0.01 (\*\*), and 0.005 (\*\*\*).

Figure 3.3. Vaccine-induced CD4 T cell responses specific for external influenza proteins are cross-reactive. 5 out of 20 donors, 3 TIV (closed symbols) and 2 LAIV (open symbols), responded at days 7 or 14 post-

vaccination to HA from the vaccine strain, A/Cal/04/09, and 6 out of 20 donors, 4 TIV and 2 LAIV, responded to NA from A/Cal/04/09 (A). An example of vaccineassociated cross-reactive CD4 T cell responses is demonstrated in (B). CD4 T cell responses specific for HA and NA from A/Cal/04/09 (closed diamonds) were comparable in magnitude and kinetics to those for A/NC/20/99, A/SI/03/06, and A/Br/59/07. For all samples, responses are reported as number of CD69<sup>+</sup> IFNγ<sup>+</sup> cells /  $10^{6}$  CD4 T cells.

**Figure 3.4.** Comparison of post-vaccination IgG-secreting ASC levels and **CD4 T cell responses to external influenza proteins at day 7.** Day 7 IgG ASC responses for 18 vaccine trial participants (8 TIV, closed circles, and 10 LAIV, open circles) were measured by IgG ASC ELISpot assay. This data is compared to the sum of A/Cal/04/09 HA- and NA-specific CD4 T cell responses at day 7. Linear regression analysis was performed for members of the TIV group.

Figure 3.5. CD4 T cell responses to internal influenza proteins. Pre-

existing CD4 T cell responses specific for M1 and NP from A/PR/08/34, A/AA/06/60, and A/Cal/04/09 for all internal group participants (n = 22) were compared with the Mann Whitney test. CD4 T cell responses specific for M1 (B) and NP (C) from the above strains were measured at multiple post-infection time points in the TIV (n = 12) and LAIV (n = 10) groups. Statistical analysis was performed with the Wilcoxon matched pairs test. For all samples, responses are reported as number of CD69<sup>+</sup> IFNγ<sup>+</sup> cells / 10<sup>6</sup> CD4 T cells. Asterisks show P <0.01 (\*\*), and 0.005 (\*\*\*). **Figure 3.6. CD8 T cell responses to internal influenza proteins.** Preexisting CD8 T cell responses specific for M1 and NP from A/PR/08/34, A/AA/06/60, and A/Cal/04/09 for all internal group participants (n = 22) were compared with the Mann Whitney test. CD8 T cell responses specific for M1 (B) and NP (C) from the above strains were measured at multiple post-infection time points in the TIV (n = 12) and LAIV (n = 10) groups. Statistical analysis was performed with the Wilcoxon matched pairs test. For all samples, responses are reported as number of CD69<sup>+</sup> IFNy<sup>+</sup> cells / 10<sup>6</sup> CD8 T cells. Asterisks show P <0.01 (\*\*), and 0.005 (\*\*\*).

## Figure 3.1a,b

### Α

В



## Figure 3.1c



IL-2





Figure 3.2b





Figure 3.2c



Α




Β



Figure 3.4





Figure 3.5a



Figure 3.5b

Figure 3.5c







Figure 3.6b



Figure 3.6c



Vaccine Group	Age Range	Age mean ± SD	N (male/Female)
TIV	23 - 53	$37.8 \pm 8.9$	4 / 16
LAIV	23 - 46	$34.6 \pm 6.8$	15 / 5

 Table 1. Demographic information for influenza vaccine trial participants

### Table 2. Influenza proteins included in the our study of human T cellresponses to 2010-2011 seasonal influenza vaccines

External Proteins	s (HA, NA)	Internal Proteins (M1, NP)				
Strain* Vaccine Year		Strain	Subtype	Vaccine ID		
A/New Caledonia/20/99	2000-07	A/Puerto Rico/08/34	H1N1	TIV		
A/Solomon Islands/03/06	2007-08	A/Ann Arbor/06/60	H2N2	LAIV		
A/Brisbane/59/07	2008-10	A/California/04/09	H1N1			
A/California/04/09	2010-11					

\* All external proteins are derived from the influenza A H1N1 subtype.

			НА			NA			
	Day	Estimate of response*	(Time point - baseline)	P value	Day	Estimate of response	(Time point - baseline)	P value	-
	0	56			0	132			
≥	7	61	5	0.7489	7	129	-3	0.8477	
-	14	64	8	0.5615	14	188	56	0.0199	
_	0	112			0	127			A/Cal/4/09
AIV	7	119	7	0.8708	7	88	-39	0.1517	
-	14	28	-84	0.0258	14	115	-12	0.6531	
	0	90			0	169			
Σ	7	91	1	0.9213	7	178	9	0.8369	
•	14	129	39	0.0024	14	191	22	0.2810	A /N/O /00 /00
,	0	81			0	174			A/NC/20/99
AIV	7	109	28	0.5423	7	142	-32	0.3889	
	14	95	14	0.7247	14	173	-1	0.9884	
	0	46			0	64			
ZI<	7	73	27	0.1783	7	81	17	0.3122	
	14	60	14	0.3328	14	103	39	0.1202	A/CL/2/06
/	0	107			0	119			A/51/3/00
AIN	7	62	-45	0.0562	7	101	-18	0.6208	
	14	63	-44	0.0538	14	128	9	0.8453	
	0	49			0	82			
ZI	7	88	39	0.1923	7	95	13	0.4856	
	14	111	62	0.1721	14	104	22	0.2347	A/Br/50/07
1	0	102			0	111			A/DI/33/01
AIN	7	87	-15	0.4580	7	103	-8	0.7371	
-	14	69	-33	0.3713	14	71	-40	0.0659	

# Table 3. Analysis of human vaccine-associated CD4 T cell responses to externalinfluenza proteins via mixed linear model

\* Response estimates are reported as the number of IFN $\gamma^+$  cells / 10<sup>6</sup> CD4 T cells.

			M1		NP				
	Day	Estimate of response*	(Time point - baseline)	P value	Day	Estimate of response	(Time point - baseline)	P value	
	0	164			0	109			
τıν	7	204	40	0.2822	7	200	91	0.0142	
	14	162	-2	0.9364	14	143	34	0.1407	
/	0	151			0	145			
AIV	7	381	230	0.0032	7	370	225	0.0394	
	14	203	52	0.1018	14	182	37	0.1312	
	0	178			0	142			
ΣI	7	259	81	0.0374	7	161	19	0.4590	
-	14	182	4	0.8799	14	143	14	0.9553	
/	0	137			0	107			
AIV	7	360	223	0.0083	7	393	286	0.0129	
	14	222	85	0.2136	14	183	76	0.0025	
	0	81			0	101			
ΤIV	7	117	36	0.1316	7	167	66	0.0048	
-	14	95	14	0.2477	14	126	25	0.2565	
AIV	0	54			0	68			
	7	114	60	0.0126	7	224	156	0.0318	
	14	84	30	0.0192	14	143	75	0.0031	

Table 4. Analysis of human vaccine-associated CD4 T cell responses tointernal influenza proteins via mixed linear model

\* Response estimates are reported as the number of  $\mathsf{IFN}\gamma^+$  cells /  $10^6$  CD4 T cells

			M1		NP				
	Day	Estimate of response*	(Time point - baseline)	P value	Day	Estimate of response	(Time point - baseline)	P value	
	0	499			0	395			
ΣI	7	296	-203	0.1694	7	314	-81	0.2822	
	14	471	-28	0.6834	14	417	22	0.7911	
/	0	166			0	342			
AIV	7	217	51	0.1560	7	411	69	0.1100	
	14	335	169	0.1165	14	358	16	0.8995	
	0	522			0	130			
ΤIV	7	478	-44	0.2624	7	99	-31	0.2619	
-	14	455	-67	0.5385	14	113	-17	0.7083	
1	0	101			0	146			
AIV.	7	142	41	0.3526	7	241	95	0.0781	
	14	138	37	0.3912	14	96	-50	0.6638	
	0	486			0	375			
TI∖	7	466	-20	0.6952	7	292	-83	0.1693	
	14	531	45	0.0987	14	411	36	0.7487	
>	0	315			0	256			
AIN	7	252	-63	0.4561	7	371	115	0.0066	
	14	315	0	0.9986	14	265	9	0.9270	

## Table 5. Analysis of human vaccine-associated CD8 T cell responses to internalinfluenza proteins via mixed linear model

\* Response estimates are reported as the number of IFN $\gamma^+$  cells / 10<sup>6</sup> CD8 T cells.

### Supplementary Data 3.1. Sequence alignments of M1 from A/PR/08/34, A/AA/06/60, and A/Cal/04/09

A/Puerto Rico/08/34 A/Ann Arbor/06/60 A/California/04/97	MSLLTEVETY MSLLTEVETY MSLLTEVETY	VLSIIPSGPL VLSIIPSGPL VLSIIPSGPL	KAEIAQRLED KAEIAQRLED KAEIAQRLE <mark>S</mark>	$\frac{VFAGKNTDLE}{VFAGKNTDLE}$	VLMEWLKTRP ALMEWLKTRP ALMEWLKTRP
	ILSPLTKGIL	GFVFTLTVPS	ERGLQRRRFV	QNALNGNGDP	NNMDKAVKLY
	ILSPLTKGIL	${\tt GFVFTLTVPS}$	ERGLQRRRFV	QNALNGNGDP	NNMDRAVKLY
IEDB Epitope ID:	ILSPLTKGIL	GFVFTLTVPS	ERGLQRRRFV	QNALNGNGDP	NNMDRAVKLY
1) 11701					
2) 1736170	(2)	(3)	)		(4)
3) 1820891	RKLK <b>REITFH</b>	GAKEISLSYS	<b>AGAL</b> ASCMGL	IYNRMGAVTT	EVAFGLVCAT
4) 1598479	RKLK <b>REITFH</b>	GAKEIALSYS	<b>AGAL</b> ASCMGL	IYNRMGAVTT	EVVLGLVCAT
5) 1820911	K <mark>klk<b>reitfh</b></mark>	GAKE <mark>V</mark> SLSYS	<b>TGAL</b> ASCMGL	IYNRMG <mark>T</mark> VTT	EAAFGLVCAT
6) 1820926					
7) 1820935		( 5	5)		
	CEQIADSQHR	SHRQMVTTTN	PLIRHENRMV	LASTTAKAME	QMAGSSEQAA
	CEQIADSQHR	SHRQMVTTTN	PLIRHENRMV	LASTTAKAME	QMAGSSEQAA
	CEQIADSQHR	SHRQM <mark>A</mark> TTTN	PLIRHENRMV	LASTTAKAME	QMAGSSEQAA
	(6	5)		(7)	
	EAMEVASQAR	QMVQAMRTIG	THPSSSAGLK	NDLLENLQAY	QKRMGVQMQR
	EAMEVASQAR	<u>QMVQ</u> AMRVIG	THPSSSAGLK	NDLLENLQAY	QKRMGVQMQR
	EAMEVANQTR	QMV <b>H</b> AMRTIG	THPSSSAGLK	DLLENLQAY	QKRMGVQMQR

#### **Chapter 4: Discussion**

Investigations of human influenza-specific T cell responses, which are typically performed in PBMC, are complicated, due to low frequencies of circulating influenza-specific T cells. To address this issue, we developed an rVSV-based quantitative T cell assay that was used to characterize human T cell responses to 2010-2011 influenza vaccines. The rVSV assay was also effective in detecting T cell responses to yellow fever vaccines (YFV-17D) and immunodominant epitopes, such as CMVpp65. This system is ideal for the evaluation of essentially any vaccine candidate designed to elicit T cell responses, and it represents an effective method for mapping immunodominant T cell epitopes at the gene level. A primary advantage of rVSV vectors is that they are inexpensive, allowing investigators to map epitopes to large viruses and bacteria or conduct extensive vaccine trial analysis that may not be cost-effective using overlapping peptide pools as an antigen source. Additionally, our data suggest that APCs, particularly monocytes, are infected with rVSV vectors, which would result in natural processing and presentation of proteins expressed by rVSV constructs. Conversely, overlapping peptide pools bind directly to surface MHC molecules and are not subject to natural processing. This raises the possibility that T cell responses observed following stimulation with overlapping peptide pools are artificially increased, because they are partially driven by the recognition of epitopes that are not normally presented during viral infection. We also showed that rVSV vectors are capable of inducing T cell proliferation in vitro. Culturing CFSE-labeled PBMC with rVSV vectors induced the proliferation of

CD4 and CD8 T cells specific for CMVpp65 as well as CD8 T cells specific for influenza proteins. This application of the rVSV system provides an additional method for assaying antigen-specific T cells and may be particularly useful for detecting low-frequency populations.

Our studies of human T cell responses to 2010-2011 seasonal influenza vaccines reveal three main points: First, both TIV and LAIV were poor inducers of T cell responses specific for external H1N1 proteins. We did note the boosting of cross-reactive CD4 T cell populations across multiple strains, but these responses were typically weak and occurred in only selected donors. Second, LAIV was more effective than TIV in boosting pre-existing CD4 T cell responses specific for internal proteins, M1 and NP. These responses were short-lived, peaking at day 7 post-vaccination and essentially returning to baseline by day 14. Third, neither TIV nor LAIV effectively increased baseline CD8 T cell levels specific for external or internal proteins. These findings represent a significant advance in our understanding of human T cell responses to seasonal influenza vaccination and raise questions about whether conventional vaccine strategies may be suitable to realize our goal of generating long-lasting and effective T cell immunity to influenza.

Given that current seasonal influenza vaccine formulations do not induce robust T cell responses, it will likely be essential to incorporate new technologies into seasonal vaccination approaches in order to achieve T cell levels capable of

providing a greater contribution to protection. There are numerous putative T cell adjuvants and alternative vaccine delivery systems that have shown promise. In one report, priming of CD8 T cells with influenza NP peptide and a combination of aluminum salts and monophosphoryl lipid A established protective immunity in mice (181). This study is significant, because it suggests immunogenic potential for two adjuvants that are currently licensed for use in humans in the United States. Additional vaccine adjuvants, such as  $\alpha$ -galactosylceramide analogs, TLR 3 or TLR 9 agonists complexed with cationic lipids, and sucrose fatty acid sulfate esters have demonstrated efficacy in enhancing T cell responses to vaccination in animal models (182-185). In humans, two candidate adjuvants have been the subject of recent vaccine trials. AS03 is a tocopherol oil-in-water emulsion that boosts vaccine-associated CD4 T cell responses in adults and children following 2009 H1N1 and H5N1 vaccination (186-188). Another oil-in-water emulsion, MF59, has been shown to enhance post-vaccination influenza-specific CD4 T cell levels in both adults and children (189,190). Alternative vaccine delivery methods have also been investigated in human trials. Vaccination of healthy adults with plasmid DNA encoding H5 HA generated influenza-specific T cell responses that persisted for more than 180 days following vaccination (191). Formulations of conventional influenza vaccines with immunostimulating complexes (ISCOMs) or liposomes have been tested in adult and elderly populations and were reported to improve CD8 T cell responses to vaccination (192,193). Taken together, these results indicate that improved influenza vaccine

methodologies may compensate for the minimal T cell boosting capability of current seasonal influenza vaccines.

Increasing influenza-specific T cell responses to vaccination may also be accomplished by viral vector-based approaches, such as modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA) or adenovirus (Ad). In human vaccine trials and preclinical studies, immunization of human donors with MVA vectors expressing various HIV proteins stimulated the expansion of antigen-specific CD4 and CD8 T cells (194-197). These responses were improved when MVA was part of a heterologous prime/boost regimen that included DNA vaccines or fowlpox vectors. Additionally, vaccine-associated T cell responses were observed following immunization with MVA vectors expressing malaria proteins, and effective boosting of TB-specific CD4 T cells was noted following administration of TB antigen-expressing MVA vectors (198-200). In one human trial, influenza M1 and NP-encoding MVA vaccines boosted influenza-specific CD4 and CD8 T cell responses (201). Reported post-vaccination influenza-specific CD4 T cell responses were comparable with our data from TIV- or LAIV-vaccinated individuals, but in contrast with our results, vaccine-associated influenza-specific CD8 T cell responses were seen in most trial participants. Ad vectors have also been shown to induce antigen-specific CD4 and CD8 T cell responses following vaccination. Most of these trials have been conducted with Ad vectors that encode HIV proteins (202-205), although Ad vectors have demonstrated efficacy in inducing ebola- and hepatitis C-specific T cell responses in humans and chimpanzees,

respectively (206,207). These viral vector-based vaccines are generally welltolerated in humans and represent attractive candidates for the next generation of influenza vaccines.

No T cell correlate of protection has been established for influenza virus in humans, and this subject has been the focus of little investigation. In recent vaccine trials in the elderly, poor post-vaccination T cell-associated granzyme B (GrzB) responses were observed in participants who later developed clinicallydiagnosed infection (170,208). Conversely, post-vaccination antibody responses could not be used to distinguish between uninfected and subsequently infected donors, demonstrating that vaccine-induced T cell responses may be more suitable than post-vaccination antibody levels as predictors of disease susceptibility in older populations. It would be informative to repeat these trials in adult populations with a more extensive analysis of GrzB production by influenzaspecific T cells. If there is a protective T cell correlate associated with the production of GrzB, it may be possible to determine which T cell subsets and influenza protein specificities drive these responses. This could be accomplished by incorporating flow cytometry reagents designed to detect cytolytic molecules into the rVSV system. However, as the above studies point out, there are a couple of factors that may complicate this approach. First, commercially available flow cytometry reagents do not differentiate between active and inactive forms of GrzB in assayable cells. This issue can be addressed by adding reagents for detecting T cell activation markers into flow panels in order to exclude the

measurement of cytolytic molecules contained within non-specific T cells. Second, natural killer (NK) cells also contain cytolytic proteins that are identified by common flow cytometry antibodies, and reagents should be included to account for the innate production of these proteins by NK cells (208,209). Despite these considerations, the rVSV system and similar methods could potentially be used to identify influenza-specific T cell-based correlates of protection and provide new predictors of seasonal vaccine efficacy.

Studies of vaccine-induced influenza-specific T cell immunity in humans are difficult, because they are typically limited to peripheral blood lymphocyte populations. Circulating T cell populations may not accurately predict responses at major sites of viral replication or immune induction, such as the lungs or draining lymph nodes. For example, follicular helper cells (T<sub>FH</sub> cells) are a subset of CD4 T cells that represent a large proportion of CD4 T cells found in human secondary lymphoid organs (210). These cells express high levels of CXCR5, a well-established chemokine receptor that is involved in B cell migration to lymphoid follicles prior to germinal center formation, and *in vitro* studies of human  $T_{FH}$  cells suggest that they provide increased B cell help, making  $T_{FH}$  cells an obvious area of interest to vaccine developers (211-213). Even though  $T_{FH}$  cells have been observed in peripheral blood samples, investigations human T cell responses in PBMC are not appropriate for exploring T<sub>FH</sub> cells and B cell interactions that occur in lymphoid organs. Therefore, it is important to refrain from liberal extrapolation of T cell data derived from PBMC. We must also be

careful not to conclude that seasonal influenza vaccines provide no benefit to T cell immunity simply due to the observed paucity of circulating influenza-specific T cell populations following vaccination. However, when comparing the levels of circulating antigen-specific T cells following seasonal influenza vaccination with those induced by yellow fever virus (YFV-17D) administration or smallpox vaccination (Dryvax), a significant disparity is revealed (214-216). YFV-17D and Dryvax are live, attenuated vectors, like LAIV, and they are generally regarded as two of the most effective human vaccines. At the peak of the post-vaccination response, YFV-17D- and Dryvax-reactive CD8 T cells have been reported to account for up to 12.5% and 40% of total circulating CD8 T cells, respectively. Although these investigations were performed using overlapping peptide pools as opposed to viral vectors for antigen delivery, these frequencies are multiple orders of magnitude higher than CD8 T cell responses observed following seasonal influenza vaccination in our study. It should be noted that YFV-17D and Dryvax are commonly administered to individuals with no pre-existing immunity, and these vaccines have been shown to cause systemic infection with detectable viremia (216,217). These factors probably contribute to the increased immunogenicity of these vaccines. The extent to which robust T cell responses to yellow fever and smallpox vaccination contribute to overall protection is unknown, but the magnitude of these responses would imply that they are capable of some measure of viral control. These studies suggest that the T cell-boosting potential of seasonal influenza vaccines may need to be increased considerably in order to establish long-lasting, protective T cell immunity to influenza.

Augmenting CD4 T cell help for influenza-specific CD8 T cell populations and antibody-producing B cells in human seasonal vaccine recipients is an additional area of interest that is poorly understood. If mouse models are any indication, vaccine-induced influenza-specific CD4 T cell populations may play a significant role in the generation of robust antibody responses and deliver critical signals that drive the activation of effector CD8 T cell populations (120,121). Currently, the relationship between influenza-specific T cell responses and humoral immunity in seasonal vaccination has not been fully explored. Recent studies failed to identify a correlation between pre-existing H1N1 HA-specific T cell responses and seasonal H1N1 hemagglutination inhibition assay (HAI) titers (218). Furthermore, in a trial of 2007-2008 seasonal influenza vaccine recipients, vaccination resulted in the boosting of H3N2 HA-specific T cells in several donors; however, there was no observed statistical correlation between vaccineassociated B and T cell responses (96). To our knowledge, there are no reports comparing vaccine-induced influenza-specific T cell populations with ASC or memory B cell responses. In our analysis, we observed no obvious correlation between influenza-specific IgG ASC and CD4 T cell responses in 2010-2011 seasonal vaccine recipients, although it must be stated that we did not have enough donors to conduct a comprehensive comparison. Additional investigations are clearly needed to fully explore the relationship between B and T cell immunity in influenza infection.

Multiple investigations, including our own, have demonstrated that LAIV is more effective than TIV in stimulating influenza-specific CD4 T cell responses (96,142). The reasons for this observation are unknown, although it has been proposed that LAIV, which is delivered to the respiratory tract via intranasal administration, replicates in an environment that is more conducive to the initiation of influenza-specific T cell responses than in the lymph nodes that drain intramuscularly injected TIV antigen (143). Regardless of the reasons for enhanced boosting of influenza-specific T cell responses by LAIV, human studies suggest that this effect does not translate into superior B cell responses. For example, in vaccine trials comparing TIV and LAIV in adults and children, TIV induced greater IgG ASC responses than LAIV in adults. No significant difference in IgG ASC responses was noted in children vaccinated with either vaccine, possibly because low pre-existing influenza immunity in children enhances the replicative potential of LAIV (219). In both age groups, IgG and IgA memory B cell responses were found to be more robust following TIV vaccination (95). Additionally, in recent reports involving the elderly and military recruits, donors immunized with TIV displayed higher serum antibody levels than LAIVvaccinated individuals (96-98). These studies raise the question of whether the generation of influenza-specific T cell immunity is beneficial to vaccinated individuals.

To conclude, the ultimate goal of this study was to conduct a comprehensive characterization of human T cell responses to seasonal influenza

vaccines. To accomplish this goal, we first developed an inexpensive, yet efficient, T cell assay that measures direct ex vivo CD4 and CD8 T cell responses specific for multiple influenza proteins across various strains. We applied this novel method to characterize human T cell responses to 2010-2011 seasonal influenza vaccines. Based on our findings, we propose that conventional vaccine approaches are potentially inadequate to induce protective T cell immunity in humans. Additionally, It is likely that incorporating "universal" cross-reactive T cell epitope approaches into current formulations will also be inefficacious. Our studies support this view, because although we observed a significant boost in cross-reactive T cell populations following influenza vaccination in many donors, vaccine-associated effects were often minimal, especially when compared to T cell responses induced by more successful human vaccines, such as YFV-17D and Dryvax. Our investigation points to the need for developing and implementing new methodologies into current influenza vaccine strategies if we are to realize the goal of enhancing influenza vaccination by improving T cell immunity.

#### References

- Brammer, T. L., H. S. Izurieta, K. Fukuda, et al. 2000. Surveillance for influenza--United States, 1994-95, 1995-96, and 1996-97 seasons.
   MMWR CDC Surveill Summ 49: 13-28.
- Molinari, N. A., I. R. Ortega-Sanchez, M. L. Messonnier, et al. 2007. The annual impact of seasonal influenza in the US: measuring disease burden and costs. *Vaccine* 25: 5086-5096.
- Shrestha, S. S., D. L. Swerdlow, R. H. Borse, et al. 2011. Estimating the burden of 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1) in the United States (April 2009-April 2010). *Clin Infect Dis* 52 Suppl 1: S75-S82.
- Dannevig, B. H., K. Falk, and E. Namork. 1995. Isolation of the causal virus of infectious salmon anaemia (ISA) in a long-term cell line from Atlantic salmon head kidney. *J Gen Virol* 76 (Pt 6): 1353-1359.
- Neumann, G., G. G. Brownlee, E. Fodor, et al. 2004. Orthomyxovirus replication, transcription, and polyadenylation. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 283: 121-143.
- 6. Hay, A. J., V. Gregory, A. R. Douglas, et al. 2001. The evolution of human influenza viruses. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 356: 1861-1870.
- Sriram, G., W. J. Bean, V. S. Hinshaw, et al. 1980. Genetic diversity among avian influenza viruses. *Virology* 105: 592-599.
- Rivailler, P., I. A. Perry, Y. Jang, et al. 2010. Evolution of canine and equine influenza (H3N8) viruses co-circulating between 2005 and 2008. *Virology* 408: 71-79.

- Keawcharoen, J., D. van Riel, G. van Amerongen, et al. 2008. Wild ducks as long-distance vectors of highly pathogenic avian influenza virus (H5N1). *Emerg Infect Dis* 14: 600-607.
- 10. Kida, H., T. Ito, J. Yasuda, et al. 1994. Potential for transmission of avian influenza viruses to pigs. *J Gen Virol* 75 (Pt 9): 2183-2188.
- 11. Shortridge, K. F. 1992. Pandemic influenza: a zoonosis? *Semin Respir Infect* 7: 11-25.
- 12. Cox, N. J., and K. Subbarao. 2000. Global epidemiology of influenza: past and present. *Annu Rev Med* 51: 407-421.
- Belser, J. A., H. Zeng, J. M. Katz, et al. 2011. Infection with highly pathogenic H7 influenza viruses results in an attenuated proinflammatory cytokine and chemokine response early after infection. *J Infect Dis* 203: 40-48.
- Guo, Y. J., F. G. Jin, P. Wang, et al. 1983. Isolation of influenza C virus from pigs and experimental infection of pigs with influenza C virus. *J Gen Virol* 64 (Pt 1): 177-182.
- 15. Moser, M. R., T. R. Bender, H. S. Margolis, et al. 1979. An outbreak of influenza aboard a commercial airliner. *Am J Epidemiol* 110: 1-6.
- 16. Roy, C. J., and D. K. Milton. 2004. Airborne transmission of communicable infection--the elusive pathway. *N Engl J Med* 350: 1710-1712.
- Brankston, G., L. Gitterman, Z. Hirji, et al. 2007. Transmission of influenza A in human beings. *Lancet Infect Dis* 7: 257-265.

- Belser, J. A., T. R. Maines, T. M. Tumpey, et al. 2010. Influenza A virus transmission: contributing factors and clinical implications. *Expert Rev Mol Med* 12: e39.
- Shaw, M. W., N. H. Arden, and H. F. Maassab. 1992. New aspects of influenza viruses. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 5: 74-92.
- Nicholson, K. G. 1992. Clinical features of influenza. Semin Respir Infect 7: 26-37.
- 21. Khater, F., and J. P. Moorman. 2003. Complications of influenza. *South Med J* 96: 740-743.
- 22. Douglas, R. G. 1976. Influenza: the disease and its complications. *Hosp Pract* 11: 43-50.
- Mallia, P., and S. L. Johnston. 2007. Influenza infection and COPD. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2: 55-64.
- Barker, W. H., and J. P. Mullooly. 1980. Influenza vaccination of elderly persons. Reduction in pneumonia and influenza hospitalizations and deaths. *JAMA* 244: 2547-2549.
- Glezen, W. P., M. Decker, and D. M. Perrotta. 1987. Survey of underlying conditions of persons hospitalized with acute respiratory disease during influenza epidemics in Houston, 1978-1981. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 136: 550-555.
- Glezen, W. P., A. Paredes, and L. H. Taber. 1980. Influenza in children.
   Relationship to other respiratory agents. *JAMA* 243: 1345-1349.

- 27. Hers, J. F., and J. Mulder. 1961. Broad aspects of the pathology and pathogenesis of human influenza. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 83(2)Pt 2: 84-97.
- Martin, C. M., C. M. Kunin, L. S. Gottlieb, et al. 1959. Asian influenza A in Boston, 1957-1958. II. Severe staphylococcal pneumonia complicating influenza. *AMA Arch Intern Med* 103: 532-542.
- Hall, W. J., R. G. Douglas, R. W. Hyde, et al. 1976. Pulmonary mechanics after uncomplicated influenza A infection. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 113: 141-148.
- 30. Little, J. W., W. J. Hall, R. G. Douglas, et al. 1976. Amantadine effect on peripheral airways abnormalities in influenza. A study in 15 students with natural influenza A infection. *Ann Intern Med* 85: 177-182.
- Bourmakina, S. V., and A. García-Sastre. 2005. The morphology and composition of influenza A virus particles are not affected by low levels of M1 and M2 proteins in infected cells. *J Virol* 79: 7926-7932.
- Richardson, J. C., and R. K. Akkina. 1991. NS2 protein of influenza virus is found in purified virus and phosphorylated in infected cells. *Arch Virol* 116: 69-80.
- Yasuda, J., S. Nakada, A. Kato, et al. 1993. Molecular assembly of influenza virus: association of the NS2 protein with virion matrix. *Virology* 196: 249-255.
- Markoff, L., B. C. Lin, M. M. Sveda, et al. 1984. Glycosylation and surface expression of the influenza virus neuraminidase requires the N-terminal hydrophobic region. *Mol Cell Biol* 4: 8-16.

- 35. Herrler, G., I. Dürkop, H. Becht, et al. 1988. The glycoprotein of influenza
  C virus is the haemagglutinin, esterase and fusion factor. *J Gen Virol* 69 (
  Pt 4): 839-846.
- Hatta, M., H. Goto, and Y. Kawaoka. 2004. Influenza B virus requires BM2 protein for replication. *J Virol* 78: 5576-5583.
- Paterson, R. G., M. Takeda, Y. Ohigashi, et al. 2003. Influenza B virus BM2 protein is an oligomeric integral membrane protein expressed at the cell surface. *Virology* 306: 7-17.
- Lazarowitz, S. G., R. W. Compans, and P. W. Choppin. 1971. Influenza virus structural and nonstructural proteins in infected cells and their plasma membranes. *Virology* 46: 830-843.
- Krug, R. M., and P. R. Etkind. 1973. Cytoplasmic and nuclear virusspecific proteins in influenza virus-infected MDCK cells. *Virology* 56: 334-348.
- 40. Ito, T., Y. Suzuki, A. Takada, et al. 1997. Differences in sialic acidgalactose linkages in the chicken egg amnion and allantois influence human influenza virus receptor specificity and variant selection. *J Virol* 71: 3357-3362.
- Ottis, K., L. Sidoli, P. A. Bachmann, et al. 1982. Human influenza A viruses in pigs: isolation of a H3N2 strain antigenically related to A/England/42/72 and evidence for continuous circulation of human viruses in the pig population. *Arch Virol* 73: 103-108.

- 42. Pensaert, M., K. Ottis, J. Vandeputte, et al. 1981. Evidence for the natural transmission of influenza A virus from wild ducts to swine and its potential importance for man. *Bull World Health Organ* 59: 75-78.
- 43. Ito, T., J. N. Couceiro, S. Kelm, et al. 1998. Molecular basis for the generation in pigs of influenza A viruses with pandemic potential. *J Virol* 72: 7367-7373.
- 44. Ge, S., and Z. Wang. 2011. An overview of influenza A virus receptors. *Crit Rev Microbiol* 37: 157-165.
- 45. Dowdle, W. R., and W. A. Orenstein. 1994. Quest for life-long protection by vaccination. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 91: 2464-2468.
- 46. Wilson, I. A., and N. J. Cox. 1990. Structural basis of immune recognition of influenza virus hemagglutinin. *Annu Rev Immunol* 8: 737-771.
- 47. Hobson, D., R. L. Curry, A. S. Beare, et al. 1972. The role of serum haemagglutination-inhibiting antibody in protection against challenge infection with influenza A2 and B viruses. *J Hyg (Lond)* 70: 767-777.
- Dowdle, W. R., M. T. Coleman, S. R. Mostow, et al. 1973. Inactivated influenza vaccines. 2. Laboratory indices of protection. *Postgrad Med J* 49: 159-163.
- 49. Clements, M. L., R. F. Betts, E. L. Tierney, et al. 1986. Serum and nasal wash antibodies associated with resistance to experimental challenge with influenza A wild-type virus. *J Clin Microbiol* 24: 157-160.

- Murphy, B. R., J. A. Kasel, and R. M. Chanock. 1972. Association of serum anti-neuraminidase antibody with resistance to influenza in man. *N Engl J Med* 286: 1329-1332.
- Plotkin, J. B., and J. Dushoff. 2003. Codon bias and frequency-dependent selection on the hemagglutinin epitopes of influenza A virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100: 7152-7157.
- 52. Bush, R. M., C. A. Bender, K. Subbarao, et al. 1999. Predicting the evolution of human influenza A. *Science* 286: 1921-1925.
- 53. Jin, H., H. Zhou, H. Liu, et al. 2005. Two residues in the hemagglutinin of A/Fujian/411/02-like influenza viruses are responsible for antigenic drift from A/Panama/2007/99. *Virology* 336: 113-119.
- 54. Ansart, S., C. Pelat, P. Y. Boelle, et al. 2009. Mortality burden of the 19181919 influenza pandemic in Europe. *Influenza Other Respi Viruses* 3: 99106.
- Johnson, N. P., and J. Mueller. 2002. Updating the accounts: global mortality of the 1918-1920 "Spanish" influenza pandemic. *Bull Hist Med* 76: 105-115.
- 56. Smith, G. J., J. Bahl, D. Vijaykrishna, et al. 2009. Dating the emergence of pandemic influenza viruses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106: 11709-11712.
- 57. Khiabanian, H., V. Trifonov, and R. Rabadan. 2009. Reassortment patterns in Swine influenza viruses. *PLoS Curr* 1: RRN1008.
- Zimmer, S. M., and D. S. Burke. 2009. Historical perspective--Emergence of influenza A (H1N1) viruses. *N Engl J Med* 361: 279-285.

- 59. Webster, R. G., W. J. Bean, O. T. Gorman, et al. 1992. Evolution and ecology of influenza A viruses. *Microbiol Rev* 56: 152-179.
- Oxford, J. S. 2000. Influenza A pandemics of the 20th century with special reference to 1918: virology, pathology and epidemiology. *Rev Med Virol* 10: 119-133.
- 61. Kilbourne, E. D. 2006. Influenza pandemics of the 20th century. *Emerg Infect Dis* 12: 9-14.
- Garten, R. J., C. T. Davis, C. A. Russell, et al. 2009. Antigenic and genetic characteristics of swine-origin 2009 A(H1N1) influenza viruses circulating in humans. *Science* 325: 197-201.
- 63. Detweiler, H. K., and W. R. Hodge. 1924. An attempt to isolate a filterpassing virus in epidemic influenza. *J Exp Med* 39: 43-50.
- Bradford, J. R., E. F. Bashford, and J. A. Wilson. 1919. Preliminary report on the presence of a "filter passing" virus in certain diseases: With Especial Reference to Trench Fever, Influenza, and Nephritis. *Br Med J* 1: 127-128.
- Gibson, H. G., and J. I. Connor. 1918. A filterable virus as the cause of the early stage of the present epidemic of influenzaA: (A Preliminary Note.).
   *Br Med J* 2: 645-646.
- Shope, R. E. 1931. Swine influenza III. Filtration experiments and etiology. *J Exp Med* 54: 373-385.

- Francis, T., and T. P. Magill. 1937. The antibody response of human subjects vaccinated with the virus of human influenza. *J Exp Med* 65: 251-259.
- Goldstein, M. A., and N. M. Tauraso. 1970. Effect of formalin, betapropiolactone, merthiolate, and ultraviolet light upon influenza virus infectivity chicken cell agglutination, hemagglutination, and antigenicity. *Appl Microbiol* 19: 290-294.
- Polley, J. R., and M. M. Guerrin. 1957. The use of beta-propiolactone for the preparation of virus vaccines. I. Selection of reaction conditions. *Can J Microbiol* 3: 863-870.
- Fulginiti, V. A. 1982. Immunizations: current controversies. *J Pediatr* 101: 487-494.
- 71. Webster, R. G., and W. G. Laver. 1966. Influenza virus subunit vaccines: immunogenicity and lack of toxicity for rabbits of ether- and detergentdisrupted virus. *J Immunol* 96: 596-605.
- Jennings, R., A. Clark, J. S. Oxford, et al. 1978. Reactogenicity and immunogenicity of whole and ether-Tween-split influenza A virus vaccines in volunteers. *J Infect Dis* 138: 577-586.
- al-Mazrou, A., D. W. Scheifele, T. Soong, et al. 1991. Comparison of adverse reactions to whole-virion and split-virion influenza vaccines in hospital personnel. *CMAJ* 145: 213-218.
- Maassab, H. F. 1967. Adaptation and growth characteristics of influenza virus at 25 degrees c. *Nature* 213: 612-614.

- Maassab, H. F., and M. L. Bryant. 1999. The development of live attenuated cold-adapted influenza virus vaccine for humans. *Rev Med Virol* 9: 237-244.
- 76. Kendal, A. P., M. P. Kiley, and H. F. Maassab. 1973. Comparative studies of wild-type and "cold-mutant" (temperature-sensitive) influenza viruses: polypeptide synthesis by an Asian (H2N2) strain and its cold-adapted variant. *J Virol* 12: 1503-1511.
- Maassab, H. F. 1969. Biologic and immunologic characteristics of coldadapted influenza virus. *J Immunol* 102: 728-732.
- Maassab, H. F., and D. C. DeBorde. 1985. Development and characterization of cold-adapted viruses for use as live virus vaccines. *Vaccine* 3: 355-369.
- Maassab, H. F., T. Francis, F. M. Davenport, et al. 1969. Laboratory and clinical characteristics of attenuated strains of influenza virus. *Bull World Health Organ* 41: 589-594.
- Kitayama, T., Y. Togo, R. B. Hornick, et al. 1973. Low-Temperature-Adapted Influenza A2/AA/6/60 Virus Vaccine in Man. *Infect Immun* 7: 119-122.
- Moldoveanu, Z., M. L. Clements, S. J. Prince, et al. 1995. Human immune responses to influenza virus vaccines administered by systemic or mucosal routes. *Vaccine* 13: 1006-1012.
- Kemble, G., and H. Greenberg. 2003. Novel generations of influenza vaccines. *Vaccine* 21: 1789-1795.

- He, X. S., T. H. Holmes, K. Mahmood, et al. 2008. Phenotypic changes in influenza-specific CD8+ T cells after immunization of children and adults with influenza vaccines. *J Infect Dis* 197: 803-811.
- 84. Chen, G. L., Y. F. Lau, E. W. Lamirande, et al. 2011. Seasonal influenza infection and live vaccine prime for a response to the 2009 pandemic H1N1 vaccine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 108: 1140-1145.
- Waffarn, E. E., and N. Baumgarth. 2011. Protective B cell responses to flu--no fluke!. *J Immunol* 186: 3823-3829.
- Chen, Z., Y. Sahashi, K. Matsuo, et al. 1998. Comparison of the ability of viral protein-expressing plasmid DNAs to protect against influenza.
   *Vaccine* 16: 1544-1549.
- Epstein, S. L., J. A. Misplon, C. M. Lawson, et al. 1993. Beta 2microglobulin-deficient mice can be protected against influenza A infection by vaccination with vaccinia-influenza recombinants expressing hemagglutinin and neuraminidase. *J Immunol* 150: 5484-5493.
- Scherle, P. A., G. Palladino, and W. Gerhard. 1992. Mice can recover from pulmonary influenza virus infection in the absence of class Irestricted cytotoxic T cells. *J Immunol* 148: 212-217.
- Puck, J. M., W. P. Glezen, A. L. Frank, et al. 1980. Protection of infants from infection with influenza A virus by transplacentally acquired antibody. *J Infect Dis* 142: 844-849.
- 90. Manz, R. A., A. E. Hauser, F. Hiepe, et al. 2005. Maintenance of serum antibody levels. *Annu Rev Immunol* 23: 367-386.

- 91. Crotty, S., and R. Ahmed. 2004. Immunological memory in humans. *Semin Immunol* 16: 197-203.
- 92. Wrammert, J., K. Smith, J. Miller, et al. 2008. Rapid cloning of high-affinity human monoclonal antibodies against influenza virus. *Nature* 453: 667-671.
- el-Madhun, A. S., R. J. Cox, A. Søreide, et al. 1998. Systemic and mucosal immune responses in young children and adults after parenteral influenza vaccination. *J Infect Dis* 178: 933-939.
- 94. Cox, R. J., K. A. Brokstad, M. A. Zuckerman, et al. 1994. An early humoral immune response in peripheral blood following parenteral inactivated influenza vaccination. *Vaccine* 12: 993-999.
- 95. Sasaki, S., M. C. Jaimes, T. H. Holmes, et al. 2007. Comparison of the influenza virus-specific effector and memory B-cell responses to immunization of children and adults with live attenuated or inactivated influenza virus vaccines. *J Virol* 81: 215-228.
- 96. Basha, S., S. Hazenfeld, R. C. Brady, et al. 2011. Comparison of antibody and T-cell responses elicited by licensed inactivated- and live-attenuated influenza vaccines against H3N2 hemagglutinin. *Hum Immunol*.
- Eick, A. A., Z. Wang, H. Hughes, et al. 2009. Comparison of the trivalent live attenuated vs. inactivated influenza vaccines among U.S. military service members. *Vaccine* 27: 3568-3575.
- 98. Forrest, B. D., A. D. Steele, L. Hiemstra, et al. 2011. A prospective, randomized, open-label trial comparing the safety and efficacy of trivalent
live attenuated and inactivated influenza vaccines in adults 60 years of age and older. *Vaccine* .

- McMichael, A. J., F. M. Gotch, and J. Rothbard. 1986. HLA B37 determines an influenza A virus nucleoprotein epitope recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* 164: 1397-1406.
- Rotteveel, F. T., E. Braakman, B. Robbe, et al. 1988. Recognition of influenza virus-infected B-cell lines by human influenza virus-specific CTL. *Cell Immunol* 111: 473-481.
- Hou, S., P. C. Doherty, M. Zijlstra, et al. 1992. Delayed clearance of Sendai virus in mice lacking class I MHC-restricted CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol* 149: 1319-1325.
- 102. Bender, B. S., T. Croghan, L. Zhang, et al. 1992. Transgenic mice lacking class I major histocompatibility complex-restricted T cells have delayed viral clearance and increased mortality after influenza virus challenge. J Exp Med 175: 1143-1145.
- 103. Epstein, S. L., C. Y. Lo, J. A. Misplon, et al. 1998. Mechanism of protective immunity against influenza virus infection in mice without antibodies. *J Immunol* 160: 322-327.
- Graham, M. B., and T. J. Braciale. 1997. Resistance to and recovery from lethal influenza virus infection in B lymphocyte-deficient mice. *J Exp Med* 186: 2063-2068.
- 105. Taylor, P. M., and B. A. Askonas. 1986. Influenza nucleoprotein-specific cytotoxic T-cell clones are protective in vivo. *Immunology* 58: 417-420.

- 106. Belz, G. T., W. Xie, J. D. Altman, et al. 2000. A previously unrecognized H-2D(b)-restricted peptide prominent in the primary influenza A virusspecific CD8(+) T-cell response is much less apparent following secondary challenge. *J Virol* 74: 3486-3493.
- 107. Liang, S., K. Mozdzanowska, G. Palladino, et al. 1994. Heterosubtypic immunity to influenza type A virus in mice. Effector mechanisms and their longevity. *J Immunol* 152: 1653-1661.
- Kreijtz, J. H., R. Bodewes, G. van Amerongen, et al. 2007. Primary influenza A virus infection induces cross-protective immunity against a lethal infection with a heterosubtypic virus strain in mice. *Vaccine* 25: 612-620.
- 109. Ulmer, J. B., T. M. Fu, R. R. Deck, et al. 1998. Protective CD4+ and CD8+
   T cells against influenza virus induced by vaccination with nucleoprotein
   DNA. *J Virol* 72: 5648-5653.
- 110. Nguyen, H. H., F. W. van Ginkel, H. L. Vu, et al. 2000. Gamma interferon is not required for mucosal cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses or heterosubtypic immunity to influenza A virus infection in mice. *J Virol* 74: 5495-5501.
- 111. Benton, K. A., J. A. Misplon, C. Y. Lo, et al. 2001. Heterosubtypic immunity to influenza A virus in mice lacking IgA, all Ig, NKT cells, or gamma delta T cells. *J Immunol* 166: 7437-7445.
- 112. Crowe, S. R., S. J. Turner, S. C. Miller, et al. 2003. Differential antigen presentation regulates the changing patterns of CD8+ T cell

136

immunodominance in primary and secondary influenza virus infections. *J Exp Med* 198: 399-410.

- 113. Crowe, S. R., S. C. Miller, R. M. Shenyo, et al. 2005. Vaccination with an acidic polymerase epitope of influenza virus elicits a potent antiviral T cell response but delayed clearance of an influenza virus challenge. *J Immunol* 174: 696-701.
- Crowe, S. R., S. C. Miller, and D. L. Woodland. 2006. Identification of protective and non-protective T cell epitopes in influenza. *Vaccine* 24: 452-456.
- 115. Zhong, W., P. A. Reche, C. C. Lai, et al. 2003. Genome-wide characterization of a viral cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitope repertoire. *J Biol Chem* 278: 45135-45144.
- 116. Brown, D. M., E. Román, and S. L. Swain. 2004. CD4 T cell responses to influenza infection. *Semin Immunol* 16: 171-177.
- 117. Oxenius, A., K. A. Campbell, C. R. Maliszewski, et al. 1996. CD40-CD40
   ligand interactions are critical in T-B cooperation but not for other anti-viral
   CD4+ T cell functions. *J Exp Med* 183: 2209-2218.
- 118. Sangster, M. Y., J. M. Riberdy, M. Gonzalez, et al. 2003. An early CD4+ T cell-dependent immunoglobulin A response to influenza infection in the absence of key cognate T-B interactions. *J Exp Med* 198: 1011-1021.
- 119. Kamperschroer, C., J. P. Dibble, D. L. Meents, et al. 2006. SAP is required for Th cell function and for immunity to influenza. *J Immunol* 177: 5317-5327.

- 120. Mozdzanowska, K., M. Furchner, D. Zharikova, et al. 2005. Roles of CD4+ T-cell-independent and -dependent antibody responses in the control of influenza virus infection: evidence for noncognate CD4+ T-cell activities that enhance the therapeutic activity of antiviral antibodies. *J Virol* 79: 5943-5951.
- 121. Mozdzanowska, K., K. Maiese, and W. Gerhard. 2000. Th cell-deficient mice control influenza virus infection more effectively than Th- and B celldeficient mice: evidence for a Th-independent contribution by B cells to virus clearance. *J Immunol* 164: 2635-2643.
- 122. Brown, D. M., A. M. Dilzer, D. L. Meents, et al. 2006. CD4 T cell-mediated protection from lethal influenza: perforin and antibody-mediated mechanisms give a one-two punch. *J Immunol* 177: 2888-2898.
- 123. Teijaro, J. R., D. Verhoeven, C. A. Page, et al. 2010. Memory CD4 T cells direct protective responses to influenza virus in the lungs through helperindependent mechanisms. *J Virol* 84: 9217-9226.
- 124. Allan, W., Z. Tabi, A. Cleary, et al. 1990. Cellular events in the lymph node and lung of mice with influenza. Consequences of depleting CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol* 144: 3980-3986.
- 125. Bodmer, H., G. Obert, S. Chan, et al. 1993. Environmental modulation of the autonomy of cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Eur J Immunol* 23: 1649-1654.
- 126. Tripp, R. A., S. R. Sarawar, and P. C. Doherty. 1995. Characteristics of the influenza virus-specific CD8+ T cell response in mice homozygous for disruption of the H-2IAb gene. *J Immunol* 155: 2955-2959.

- 127. Maecker, H. T., H. S. Dunn, M. A. Suni, et al. 2001. Use of overlapping peptide mixtures as antigens for cytokine flow cytometry. *J Immunol Methods* 255: 27-40.
- 128. Xu, J., F. Lori, and J. Lisziewicz. 2003. Vaccinia assay for the rapid detection of functional HIV-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Immunol Methods* 276: 45-57.
- 129. Larsson, M., X. Jin, B. Ramratnam, et al. 1999. A recombinant vaccinia virus based ELISPOT assay detects high frequencies of Pol-specific CD8 T cells in HIV-1-positive individuals. *AIDS* 13: 767-777.
- 130. Tscharke, D. C., G. Karupiah, J. Zhou, et al. 2005. Identification of poxvirus CD8+ T cell determinants to enable rational design and characterization of smallpox vaccines. *J Exp Med* 201: 95-104.
- 131. Waldrop, S. L., C. J. Pitcher, D. M. Peterson, et al. 1997. Determination of antigen-specific memory/effector CD4+ T cell frequencies by flow cytometry: evidence for a novel, antigen-specific homeostatic mechanism in HIV-associated immunodeficiency. *J Clin Invest* 99: 1739-1750.
- 132. Richards, K. A., D. Topham, F. A. Chaves, et al. 2010. Cutting edge: CD4 T cells generated from encounter with seasonal influenza viruses and vaccines have broad protein specificity and can directly recognize naturally generated epitopes derived from the live pandemic H1N1 virus. *J Immunol* 185: 4998-5002.

- 133. Ge, X., V. Tan, P. L. Bollyky, et al. 2010. Assessment of seasonal influenza A virus-specific CD4 T-cell responses to 2009 pandemic H1N1 swine-origin influenza A virus. *J Virol* 84: 3312-3319.
- 134. Cusick, M. F., S. Wang, and D. D. Eckels. 2009. In vitro responses to avian influenza H5 by human CD4 T cells. *J Immunol* 183: 6432-6441.
- 135. Lee, L. Y., d. o. . L. A. Ha, C. Simmons, et al. 2008. Memory T cells established by seasonal human influenza A infection cross-react with avian influenza A (H5N1) in healthy individuals. *J Clin Invest* 118: 3478-3490.
- Rimmelzwaan, G. F., J. H. Kreijtz, R. Bodewes, et al. 2009. Influenza virus CTL epitopes, remarkably conserved and remarkably variable. *Vaccine* 27: 6363-6365.
- 137. Kreijtz, J. H., G. de Mutsert, C. A. van Baalen, et al. 2008. Cross-recognition of avian H5N1 influenza virus by human cytotoxic T-lymphocyte populations directed to human influenza A virus. *J Virol* 82: 5161-5166.
- 138. Gras, S., L. Kedzierski, S. A. Valkenburg, et al. 2010. Cross-reactive
  CD8+ T-cell immunity between the pandemic H1N1-2009 and H1N1-1918
  influenza A viruses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107: 12599-12604.
- 139. Greenbaum, J. A., M. F. Kotturi, Y. Kim, et al. 2009. Pre-existing immunity against swine-origin H1N1 influenza viruses in the general human population. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106: 20365-20370.

- 140. Gianfrani, C., C. Oseroff, J. Sidney, et al. 2000. Human memory CTL response specific for influenza A virus is broad and multispecific. *Hum Immunol* 61: 438-452.
- Hancock, K., V. Veguilla, X. Lu, et al. 2009. Cross-reactive antibody responses to the 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza virus. *N Engl J Med* 361: 1945-1952.
- 142. Subbramanian, R. A., S. Basha, M. T. Shata, et al. 2010. Pandemic and seasonal H1N1 influenza hemagglutinin-specific T cell responses elicited by seasonal influenza vaccination. *Vaccine* 28: 8258-8267.
- 143. He, X. S., T. H. Holmes, C. Zhang, et al. 2006. Cellular immune responses in children and adults receiving inactivated or live attenuated influenza vaccines. *J Virol* 80: 11756-11766.
- 144. Zeman, A. M., T. H. Holmes, S. Stamatis, et al. 2007. Humoral and cellular immune responses in children given annual immunization with trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 26: 107-115.
- 145. Garside, P., E. Ingulli, R. R. Merica, et al. 1998. Visualization of specific B and T lymphocyte interactions in the lymph node. *Science* 281: 96-99.
- McHeyzer-Williams, L. J., L. P. Malherbe, and M. G. McHeyzer-Williams.
  2006. Helper T cell-regulated B cell immunity. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 311: 59-83.
- 147. McHeyzer-Williams, L. J., and M. G. McHeyzer-Williams. 2005. Antigenspecific memory B cell development. *Annu Rev Immunol* 23: 487-513.

141

- 148. Air, G. M., J. Feng, T. Chen, et al. 2011. Individual Antibody and T Cell Responses to Vaccination and Infection with the 2009 Pandemic Swine-Origin H1N1 Influenza Virus. *J Clin Immunol*.
- 149. Lawson, N. D., E. A. Stillman, M. A. Whitt, et al. 1995. Recombinant vesicular stomatitis viruses from DNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92: 4477-4481.
- 150. Whelan, S. P., L. A. Ball, J. N. Barr, et al. 1995. Efficient recovery of infectious vesicular stomatitis virus entirely from cDNA clones. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92: 8388-8392.
- 151. Murali-Krishna, K., J. D. Altman, M. Suresh, et al. 1998. Counting antigenspecific CD8 T cells: a reevaluation of bystander activation during viral infection. *Immunity* 8: 177-187.
- 152. Takada, A., C. Robison, H. Goto, et al. 1997. A system for functional analysis of Ebola virus glycoprotein. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 94: 14764.
- 153. Aslanidis, C., and P. J. De Jong. 1990. Ligation-independent cloning of PCR products (LIC-PCR). *Nucleic acids research* 18: 6069.
- 154. Whitt, M. A. 2010. Generation of VSV pseudotypes using recombinant ΔG-VSV for studies on virus entry, identification of entry inhibitors, and immune responses to vaccines. *J Virol Methods* 169: 365-374.
- 155. Robison, C. S., and M. A. Whitt. 2000. The membrane-proximal stem region of vesicular stomatitis virus G protein confers efficient virus assembly. *J Virol* 74: 2239-2246.

- 156. Wills, M. R., A. J. Carmichael, K. Mynard, et al. 1996. The human cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) response to cytomegalovirus is dominated by structural protein pp65: frequency, specificity, and T-cell receptor usage of pp65-specific CTL. *J Virol* 70: 7569-7579.
- Jung, T., U. Schauer, C. Heusser, et al. 1993. Detection of intracellular cytokines by flow cytometry. *Journal of immunological methods* 159: 197-207.
- Yewdell, J. W., and J. R. Bennink. 1989. Brefeldin A specifically inhibits presentation of protein antigens to cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Science* 244: 1072-1075.
- 159. Valitutti, S., S. Müller, M. Cella, et al. 1995. Serial triggering of many T-cell receptors by a few peptide-MHC complexes. *Nature* 375: 148-151.
- 160. van der Most, R. G., L. E. Harrington, V. Giuggio, et al. 2002. Yellow fever virus 17D envelope and NS3 proteins are major targets of the antiviral T cell response in mice. *Virology* 296: 117-124.
- 161. Coil, D. A., and A. Miller. 2004. Phosphatidylserine is not the cell surface receptor for vesicular stomatitis virus. *Journal of virology* 78: 10920.
- 162. He, X. S., T. H. Holmes, S. Sasaki, et al. 2008. Baseline levels of influenza-specific CD4 memory T-cells affect T-cell responses to influenza vaccines. *PLoS One* 3: e2574.
- 163. Tu, W., H. Mao, J. Zheng, et al. 2010. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes established by seasonal human influenza cross-react against 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza virus. *J Virol* 84: 6527-6535.

- 164. Goy, K., S. Von Bibra, J. Lewis, et al. 2008. Heterosubtypic T-cell responses against avian influenza H5 haemagglutinin are frequently detected in individuals vaccinated against or previously infected with human subtypes of influenza. *Influenza Other Respi Viruses* 2: 115-125.
- 165. Roti, M., J. Yang, D. Berger, et al. 2008. Healthy human subjects have
  CD4+ T cells directed against H5N1 influenza virus. *J Immunol* 180: 1758-1768.
- 166. Doherty, P. C., and S. J. Turner. 2009. Thinking about broadly crossreactive vaccines. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 85: 665-668.
- Doherty, P. C., and A. Kelso. 2008. Toward a broadly protective influenza vaccine. *J Clin Invest* 118: 3273-3275.
- 168. Alexander, J., P. Bilsel, M. F. del Guercio, et al. 2010. Identification of broad binding class I HLA supertype epitopes to provide universal coverage of influenza A virus. *Hum Immunol* 71: 468-474.
- Zhang, H., and L. Chen. 2009. Possible origin of current influenza A H1N1 viruses. *The Lancet infectious diseases* 9: 456.
- 170. Garcia-Cañas, V., B. Lorbetskie, and M. Girard. 2006. Rapid and selective characterization of influenza virus constituents in monovalent and multivalent preparations using non-porous reversed-phase high performance liquid chromatography columns. *J Chromatogr A* 1123: 225-232.
- 171. García-Cañas, V., B. Lorbetskie, D. Bertrand, et al. 2007. Selective and quantitative detection of influenza virus proteins in commercial vaccines

using two-dimensional high-performance liquid chromatography and fluorescence detection. *Anal Chem* 79: 3164-3172.

- 172. Mbawuike, I., Y. Zang, and R. B. Couch. 2007. Humoral and cell-mediated immune responses of humans to inactivated influenza vaccine with or without QS21 adjuvant. *Vaccine* 25: 3263-3269.
- Assarsson, E., H. H. Bui, J. Sidney, et al. 2008. Immunomic analysis of the repertoire of T-cell specificities for influenza A virus in humans. *J Virol* 82: 12241-12251.
- 174. Valkenburg, S. A., J. A. Rutigliano, A. H. Ellebedy, et al. 2011. Immunity to seasonal and pandemic influenza A viruses. *Microbes Infect* 13: 489-501.
- 175. Wahl, A., F. Schafer, W. Bardet, et al. 2009. HLA class I molecules consistently present internal influenza epitopes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106: 540-545.
- 176. Scheible, K., G. Zhang, J. Baer, et al. 2011. CD8+ T cell immunity to 2009 pandemic and seasonal H1N1 influenza viruses. *Vaccine* 29: 2159-2168.
- 177. Zhou, D., T. L. Wu, M. O. Lasaro, et al. 2010. A universal influenza A vaccine based on adenovirus expressing matrix-2 ectodomain and nucleoprotein protects mice from lethal challenge. *Mol Ther* 18: 2182-2189.
- 178. Boesteanu, A. C., N. S. Babu, M. Wheatley, et al. 2010. Biopolymer encapsulated live influenza virus as a universal CD8+ T cell vaccine against influenza virus. *Vaccine* 29: 314-322.

- 179. Epstein, S. L., W. P. Kong, J. A. Misplon, et al. 2005. Protection against multiple influenza A subtypes by vaccination with highly conserved nucleoprotein. *Vaccine* 23: 5404-5410.
- 180. Ashraf, S., W. Kong, S. Wang, et al. 2011. Protective cellular responses elicited by vaccination with influenza nucleoprotein delivered by a live recombinant attenuated Salmonella vaccine. *Vaccine* 29: 3990-4002.
- 181. MacLeod, M. K., A. S. McKee, A. David, et al. 2011. Vaccine adjuvants aluminum and monophosphoryl lipid A provide distinct signals to generate protective cytotoxic memory CD8 T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 108: 7914-7919.
- 182. Bodewes, R., J. H. Kreijtz, G. van Amerongen, et al. 2010. A single immunization with CoVaccine HT-adjuvanted H5N1 influenza virus vaccine induces protective cellular and humoral immune responses in ferrets. *J Virol* 84: 7943-7952.
- 183. Hong, D. K., S. Chang, C. M. Botham, et al. 2010. Cationic lipid/DNA complex-adjuvanted influenza A virus vaccination induces robust crossprotective immunity. *J Virol* 84: 12691-12702.
- 184. Zaks, K., M. Jordan, A. Guth, et al. 2006. Efficient immunization and cross-priming by vaccine adjuvants containing TLR3 or TLR9 agonists complexed to cationic liposomes. *J Immunol* 176: 7335-7345.
- 185. Lee, Y. S., K. A. Lee, J. Y. Lee, et al. 2011. An α-GalCer analogue with branched acyl chain enhances protective immune responses in a nasal influenza vaccine. *Vaccine* 29: 417-425.

- 186. Díez-Domingo, J., M. Garcés-Sanchez, J. M. Baldó, et al. 2010. Immunogenicity and Safety of H5N1 A/Vietnam/1194/2004 (Clade 1) AS03-adjuvanted prepandemic candidate influenza vaccines in children aged 3 to 9 years: a phase ii, randomized, open, controlled study. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 29: e35-e46.
- 187. Moris, P., R. van der Most, I. Leroux-Roels, et al. 2011. H5N1 Influenza Vaccine Formulated with AS03(A) Induces Strong Cross-Reactive and Polyfunctional CD4 T-Cell Responses. J Clin Immunol 31: 443-454.
- 188. Roman, F., F. Clément, W. Dewé, et al. 2011. Effect on cellular and humoral immune responses of the AS03 adjuvant system in an A/H1N1/2009 influenza virus vaccine administered to adults during two randomized controlled trials. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* 18: 835-843.
- O'Hagan, D. T., R. Rappuoli, E. De Gregorio, et al. 2011. MF59 adjuvant: the best insurance against influenza strain diversity. *Expert Rev Vaccines* 10: 447-462.
- 190. Galli, G., D. Medini, E. Borgogni, et al. 2009. Adjuvanted H5N1 vaccine induces early CD4+ T cell response that predicts long-term persistence of protective antibody levels. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106: 3877-3882.
- 191. Smith, L. R., M. K. Wloch, M. Ye, et al. 2010. Phase 1 clinical trials of the safety and immunogenicity of adjuvanted plasmid DNA vaccines encoding influenza A virus H5 hemagglutinin. *Vaccine* 28: 2565-2572.
- 192. Powers, D. C. 1997. Summary of a clinical trial with liposome-adjuvanted influenza A virus vaccine in elderly adults. *Mech Ageing Dev* 93: 179-188.

- 193. Ennis, F. A., J. Cruz, J. Jameson, et al. 1999. Augmentation of human influenza A virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte memory by influenza vaccine and adjuvanted carriers (ISCOMS). *Virology* 259: 256-261.
- 194. Goonetilleke, N., S. Moore, L. Dally, et al. 2006. Induction of multifunctional human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific T cells capable of proliferation in healthy subjects by using a prime-boost regimen of DNA- and modified vaccinia virus Ankara-vectored vaccines expressing HIV-1 Gag coupled to CD8+ T-cell epitopes. *J Virol* 80: 4717-4728.
- 195. Brandler, S., A. Lepelley, M. Desdouits, et al. 2010. Preclinical studies of a modified vaccinia virus Ankara-based HIV candidate vaccine: antigen presentation and antiviral effect. *J Virol* 84: 5314-5328.
- 196. Keefer, M. C., S. E. Frey, M. Elizaga, et al. 2011. A phase I trial of preventive HIV vaccination with heterologous poxviral-vectors containing matching HIV-1 inserts in healthy HIV-uninfected subjects. *Vaccine* 29: 1948-1958.
- 197. Goepfert, P. A., M. L. Elizaga, A. Sato, et al. 2011. Phase 1 safety and immunogenicity testing of DNA and recombinant modified vaccinia Ankara vaccines expressing HIV-1 virus-like particles. *J Infect Dis* 203: 610-619.
- 198. Nicol, M. P., and L. A. Grobler. 2010. MVA-85A, a novel candidate booster vaccine for the prevention of tuberculosis in children and adults. *Curr Opin Mol Ther* 12: 124-134.

- 199. Hawkridge, T., T. J. Scriba, S. Gelderbloem, et al. 2008. Safety and immunogenicity of a new tuberculosis vaccine, MVA85A, in healthy adults in South Africa. *J Infect Dis* 198: 544-552.
- 200. Mwacharo, J., S. J. Dunachie, O. Kai, et al. 2009. Quantitative PCR evaluation of cellular immune responses in Kenyan children vaccinated with a candidate malaria vaccine. *PLoS One* 4: e8434.
- 201. Berthoud, T. K., M. Hamill, P. J. Lillie, et al. 2011. Potent CD8+ T-cell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA-NP+M1. *Clin Infect Dis* 52: 1-7.
- 202. Peiperl, L., C. Morgan, Z. Moodie, et al. 2010. Safety and immunogenicity of a replication-defective adenovirus type 5 HIV vaccine in Ad5seronegative persons: a randomized clinical trial (HVTN 054). *PLoS One* 5: e13579.
- 203. Migueles, S. A., J. E. Rood, A. M. Berkley, et al. 2011. Trivalent adenovirus type 5 HIV recombinant vaccine primes for modest cytotoxic capacity that is greatest in humans with protective HLA class I alleles. *PLoS Pathog* 7: e1002002.
- 204. Schooley, R. T., J. Spritzler, H. Wang, et al. 2010. AIDS clinical trials group 5197: a placebo-controlled trial of immunization of HIV-1-infected persons with a replication-deficient adenovirus type 5 vaccine expressing the HIV-1 core protein. *J Infect Dis* 202: 705-716.
- 205. Fitzgerald, D. W., H. Janes, M. Robertson, et al. 2011. An Ad5-vectoredHIV-1 vaccine elicits cell-mediated immunity but does not affect disease

progression in HIV-1-infected male subjects: results from a randomized placebo-controlled trial (the Step study). *J Infect Dis* 203: 765-772.

- 206. Ledgerwood, J. E., P. Costner, N. Desai, et al. 2010. A replication defective recombinant Ad5 vaccine expressing Ebola virus GP is safe and immunogenic in healthy adults. *Vaccine* 29: 304-313.
- 207. Zubkova, I., Y. H. Choi, E. Chang, et al. 2009. T-cell vaccines that elicit effective immune responses against HCV in chimpanzees may create greater immune pressure for viral mutation. *Vaccine* 27: 2594-2602.
- 208. McElhaney, J. E., C. Ewen, X. Zhou, et al. 2009. Granzyme B: Correlates with protection and enhanced CTL response to influenza vaccination in older adults. *Vaccine* 27: 2418-2425.
- 209. Lord, S. J., R. V. Rajotte, G. S. Korbutt, et al. 2003. Granzyme B: a natural born killer. *Immunol Rev* 193: 31-38.
- 210. Crotty, S. 2011. Follicular helper CD4 T cells (TFH). Annu Rev Immunol29: 621-663.
- 211. Breitfeld, D., L. Ohl, E. Kremmer, et al. 2000. Follicular B helper T cells express CXC chemokine receptor 5, localize to B cell follicles, and support immunoglobulin production. *J Exp Med* 192: 1545-1552.
- 212. Kim, C. H., L. S. Rott, I. Clark-Lewis, et al. 2001. Subspecialization of CXCR5+ T cells: B helper activity is focused in a germinal center-localized subset of CXCR5+ T cells. *J Exp Med* 193: 1373-1381.

- Schaerli, P., K. Willimann, A. B. Lang, et al. 2000. CXC chemokine receptor 5 expression defines follicular homing T cells with B cell helper function. *J Exp Med* 192: 1553-1562.
- 214. Akondy, R. S., N. D. Monson, J. D. Miller, et al. 2009. The yellow fever virus vaccine induces a broad and polyfunctional human memory CD8+ T cell response. *J Immunol* 183: 7919-7930.
- 215. Wrammert, J., J. Miller, R. Akondy, et al. 2009. Human immune memory to yellow fever and smallpox vaccination. *J Clin Immunol* 29: 151-157.
- 216. Miller, J. D., R. G. van der Most, R. S. Akondy, et al. 2008. Human effector and memory CD8+ T cell responses to smallpox and yellow fever vaccines. *Immunity* 28: 710-722.
- 217. Frey, S. E., F. K. Newman, J. S. Kennedy, et al. 2009. Comparison of the safety and immunogenicity of ACAM1000, ACAM2000 and Dryvax in healthy vaccinia-naive adults. *Vaccine* 27: 1637-1644.
- 218. Subbramanian, R. A., S. Basha, R. C. Brady, et al. 2010. Age-related changes in magnitude and diversity of cross-reactive CD4+ T-cell responses to the novel pandemic H1N1 influenza hemagglutinin. *Hum Immunol* 71: 957-963.
- 219. Buonagurio, D. A., R. E. O'Neill, L. Shutyak, et al. 2006. Genetic and phenotypic stability of cold-adapted influenza viruses in a trivalent vaccine administered to children in a day care setting. *Virology* 347: 296-306.

220. Kannanganat, S., C. Ibegbu, L. Chennareddi, et al. 2007. Multiplecytokine-producing antiviral CD4 T cells are functionally superior to singlecytokine-producing cells. *J Virol* 81: 8468-76